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May 8, 2018 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the Governing Council, and Citizens of the City of Palm 
Beach Gardens, Florida 
 
State law requires that all general-purpose local governments publish within nine months of the 
close of each fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and audited in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public 
accountants.  Pursuant to that requirement, we hereby issue the comprehensive annual financial 
report of the City of Palm Beach Gardens, Florida for the year ended September 30, 2017. 
 
This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City of Palm 
Beach Gardens.  Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and 
reliability of all the information presented in this report.  To provide a reasonable basis for making 
these representations, management of the City of Palm Beach Gardens has established a 
comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets 
from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the 
City of Palm Beach Gardens’ financial statements in conformity with GAAP.  Because the cost of 
internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City of Palm Beach Gardens’ 
comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than 
absolute assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement.  As 
management, we assert that to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete 
and reliable in all material respects. 
 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens’ financial statements have been audited by Marcum LLP, a firm of 
licensed certified public accountants.  The goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements of the City of Palm Beach Gardens for the year ended 
September 30, 2017, are free of material misstatement.  The independent audit involved examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  The independent auditor concluded, based 
upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the City 
of Palm Beach Gardens’ financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2017, are fairly 
presented in conformity with GAAP.  The independent auditors’ report is presented as the first 
component of the financial section of this report. 
 
GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”).  This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in 
conjunction with it.  The City of Palm Beach Gardens’ MD&A can be found immediately following 
the report of the independent auditors. 

CITY OF PALM BEACH GARDENS 
10500 N. Military Trail    Palm Beach Gardens, FL    33410-4698 

www.pbgfl.com 
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Profile of the Government 
 
Palm Beach Gardens, incorporated in 1959, is located in the southeastern part of Florida, 
approximately 7 miles north of West Palm Beach and 70 miles north of Miami.  The City currently 
has a land area of 56 square miles, making it one of the largest cities in Palm Beach County, and has 
a population of 52,591.  The City is empowered to levy a property tax on real property located 
within its boundaries.  The City also has the power by state statute to extend its corporate limits by 
annexation, which is done periodically when deemed appropriate by the City Council. 
 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens has operated under the Council-Manager form of government 
from its inception.  Policy-making and legislative authority are vested in the Governing Council, 
which consists of a Mayor and four Council Members.  The Governing Council is responsible, 
among other things, for passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees and hiring 
the City Manager and City Attorney.  The City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies 
and ordinances of the Governing Council, for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City and 
for appointing the heads of the City's departments.  The Council is elected on a non-partisan basis.  
Council Members are elected to three-year staggered terms, with two Council Members elected one 
year and three Council Members the following year.  Council Members are elected at large; the 
Mayor is selected annually from among the Council Members by the Council Members themselves. 
 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens provides a full range of services, including police and fire 
protection; the construction and maintenance of highways, streets, and other infrastructure; and 
recreational activities and cultural events.  Water and sewer services are provided through Seacoast 
Utilities, a legally separate Water and Sewer Authority, which functions totally independent of the 
City of Palm Beach Gardens, and therefore has not been included as an integral part of the City of 
Palm Beach Gardens’ financial statements.  There are no component units of the City of Palm 
Beach Gardens at this time. 
 
The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City of Palm Beach Gardens’ financial planning 
and control.  All departments of the City of Palm Beach Gardens are required to submit requests for 
appropriation to the City Manager in March each year.  The City Manager uses these requests as the 
starting point for developing a proposed budget.  The City Manager then presents this proposed 
budget to the Council for review prior to July 31.  The Council is required to hold two public 
hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget no later than September 30, the close of 
the City of Palm Beach Gardens’ fiscal year.  The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function 
(e.g., public safety), and department (e.g., police).  The budget may be amended in several ways.  
An intradepartmental or interdepartmental transfer within the same fund may be authorized by the 
City Manager.  A transfer between different funds may be authorized initially by the City Manager, 
subject to approval within 30 days by resolution adopted by the City Council.  A third way is a 
transfer from the contingency account of the City Council, which may be authorized only by 
resolution adopted by the Council; except that, in the event of an emergency declared by the 
Manager, such a transfer may be made initially upon authorization of the Manager, subject to 
approval within 30 days by resolution adopted by the Council.  Any increase in the total 
appropriations for a fund must be approved by ordinance of the Council.  Budget-to-actual 
comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for which an 
appropriated annual budget has been adopted.  For the general fund, this comparison is presented on 
pages 90-91. 
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Local Economy.  The City of Palm Beach Gardens has evolved into an upscale community with a 
fairly diverse economic base including employment in the fields of healthcare, tourism and leisure, 
engineering, and education.  The City also benefits from having the Scripps Florida Research 
Institute and Max Planck Society located in Northern Palm Beach County.  The City has a strong 
tax base with approximately 78% of ad valorem taxes generated by the residential component.  
Additionally, the City does not assess many of the traditional taxes that other municipalities use for 
generating revenue, but rather, it primarily depends on ad valorem taxes to fund services.  Residents 
are not assessed additional taxes for utility, solid waste, storm water, or fire rescue; and pay a 
minimal amount in communication services taxes.  The City has opted to pay for these services out 
of ad valorem assessments. 
 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens has been fortunate to have land mass that has been available for 
future development, which will only further enhance the City’s economic base and allow the City to 
continue to prosper with additional employment opportunities and increases in property valuations 
and revenues.  There is a significant amount of development within the City and three major 
developments that could potentially increase employment include the following: 

 
Gardens Corporate Center – The project is currently under construction for two professional 
office buildings and a parking garage totaling 478,000 square foot. 
 
Avenir – The project includes a 4,763 acre site with plans for 2,407 acres of conservation, 3,000 
single family homes, 250 multifamily townhomes, 1.94 million square feet of office, 400,000 
square feet of retail, 200,000 square feet of medical office and 300 hotel rooms.  The project also 
includes a 20 acre field to table agriculture farm and land dedication for a school, recreational 
purposes, and municipal functions totaling 145 acres.  The projected increase in population from 
this project represents approximately 15% of the City’s current population. The City is currently 
reviewing two site plan petitions for the Avenir Community. One application is requesting approval of 
468 single family homes. The second application is requesting approval of an age restricted 479 unit 
single family homes. 
 
Alton – Alton Development of Regional Impact (DRI) – Formerly known as the Florida Phase 
II/Briger Tract, is a 681 acre Development of Regional Impact (DRI) project with approval for 
1,018 single family homes, 681 multifamily townhomes, 353 apartment units, 2.6 million square 
feet of industrial/research, 1.2 million square feet of office, 450,000 square feet of retail, and 300 
hotel rooms.   
 
Construction activity at the Alton site currently consists of a residential neighborhood comprised 
of 217 single family homes and 143 multifamily townhomes, a 353-multifamily apartment 
project, the 360,203 square foot retail Town Center, and a 256-bed Assisted Living Facility.  Also, 
construction on the United Technologies Corporation 224,066 square foot Center for Intelligent 
Buildings Technology Complex is complete and the building will be used to showcase the 
company’s innovative products and integrated systems. This project represents a $100 million 
capital investment, retains 70 local jobs and creates 380 new jobs with an average salary of 
$85,000 by 2020. Finally, construction of the 3.5-Acre Residential Clubhouse/Recreation facility 
is complete.   
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In an effort to diversify and thus stabilize the economic base, the City of Palm Beach Gardens 
realized the need to attract industries and employers.  Before state and local officials began courting 
The Scripps Research Institute, the City adopted an Economic Development Element in the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan in January, 2005.  Its adoption indicated the City’s commitment to its 
economic goal to achieve a balanced and diversified economy which is compatible with the City’s 
quality built environment and protects important natural resources.  The City adopted policies in 
order to attain the objectives of a balanced and diversified economy, moderate seasonality in 
employment, increase opportunity for small business enterprises, improve the availability of 
education and training opportunities, and maintain the balance between man-made and natural 
environments.  Based on the skill sets of the citizenry (available work force) and demographic data 
collected, growth in targeted cluster industries such as biotechnology, communications, information 
technology, medical products, marine biology, aerospace research, and associated ancillary 
businesses would be encouraged.  The City has committed a portion of fund balance that will be 
used to provide future economic incentives as a way to attract companies in these industries. 
 
The City has currently earmarked funds for four companies that have already or plan to expand and 
establish headquarters within the City of Palm Beach Gardens.  Chromalloy Gas Turbine LLC – 
manufacturer of jet turbines, TBC Corporation - a tire distribution company, Zimmer Biomet 
Holdings – a medical device company, and United Technologies Corp. – a technology company that 
focuses on the aerospace and building industries.  
 
Major industries with headquarters or divisions located within the government’s boundaries or in 
close proximity include bioscience, technology, medical manufacturing, education, health care, 
financial services, and leisure service industries.  Major employers include Palm Beach County 
School Board, Palm Beach Gardens Medical Center, TBC Corp, PGA National Resort & Spa, 
Zimmer Biomet, Belcan Engineering Group, Synthes Anspach Companies, LRP Publications and 
Cross Match Technologies. 
 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens had an unemployment rate of 3.4% as of September 2017.  This 
rate compares favorably to the State of Florida rate of 3.8% and to the national unemployment rate 
of 4.2%.  With the prospect of new development projects and the addition of a number of corporate 
headquarters, future employment within the City appears more than stable. 
 
Long-term financial planning.  As mentioned previously, there are major developments that 
present many opportunities for the future financial stability of the City.  However, there are also 
many challenges that will need to be dealt with.  There will be quality of life issues 
that the City must face, such as transportation, roads, education, recreation, public safety and 
general government levels of services that must not be compromised for either existing or future 
residents.  
 
Palm Beach County voters approved a ballot issue to enact a one-cent infrastructure sales surtax to 
pay for the acquisition and improvements to public infrastructure.  The additional tax went into 
effect January 1, 2017 and will be in place for up to ten years with the City’s share of the proceeds 
estimated to be approximately $30 million.  The City reviewed current and long-term infrastructure 
needs and formulated a plan for the expenditure of the one-cent sales surtax to address current and 
projected shortages of office and meeting space, current and future parks, recreation amenities, as 
well as the long-term maintenance needs associated with the expansion of the parks and facilities.  
The City earmarked funds for certain projects that will address the demands caused by growth 
occurring within the City.   
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Unassigned fund balance in the general fund (29.7% of total general fund expenditures) exceeds the 
policy guideline of a minimum of 17%.  Due to the potential risk of future uncertainties relating to 
natural disasters, an economic downturn, or legislative changes that could have an impact on local 
government revenue, the City is dedicated to maintaining a strong fund balance position throughout 
the coming fiscal years. 
 
Major Initiatives.  During 2017, there were several projects completed or started that will further 
enhance the City’s roads, parks and facilities.  Major projects included the golf course club house 
expansion, the training facility building project, road improvements related to the Neighborhood 
Improvement Assessment Program, Shady Lakes Drive and 117th Court North improvement and 
expansion projects, and the Joseph R. Russo park expansion project. 
 
The golf course club house expansion project will include the complete renovation of the clubhouse 
to address the aging facilities to support golf course operations.  The project cost is approximately 
$6.5 million and was 64% complete as of September 30, 2017.  The project will be completed 
during the next fiscal year. 
 
The Neighborhood Improvement Assessment Program for 40th Terrace, Sunset Drive, and Brenna 
Lane for water and roadway improvements was completed during the fiscal year.  The majority of 
homeowners with property in this area petitioned the City to provide water and roadway 
improvements adjacent to their properties.  The cost of such improvements will be borne by the 
residents via annual non ad valorem property tax assessments.   
 
The combined Shady Lakes Drive/117th Court North improvement and expansion projects are 
expected to be completed in the next fiscal year.  The projects were 63% complete as of September 
30, 2017. 
 
The training facility building project was completed during the fiscal year. The project included the 
construction of a Police Tactical Training Center that will be used to create variable and realistic 
multi-faceted training scenarios for officers under stressful conditions. The project cost was 
approximately $3 million. 
 
The Joseph R. Russo Athletic Complex project that totaled $3 million and included the addition of 
multi-purpose fields, sports lighting, a restroom/concession building, group pavilions, and an 
additional playground was completed during the fiscal year.   
 
Awards and Acknowledgements 
 
The Government Finance Officers Association (“GFOA”) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Palm Beach Gardens for its comprehensive annual 
financial report (“CAFR”) for the year ended September 30, 2016.  This was the 22nd consecutive 
year that the government has received this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement, the government published an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR.  This 
report satisfied both GAAP and applicable legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe that our current 
CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 





 

vii 

CITY OF PALM BEACH GARDENS, FLORIDA 
 

LIST OF PRINCIPAL OFFICIALS 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 
 
 

TITLE  NAME 

   

Mayor  Maria Marino 

Vice-Mayor  Mark Marciano 

Council Member  Carl Woods  

Council Member  Matthew Lane  

Council Member  Rachelle Litt 

City Manager  Ronald M. Ferris 

Deputy City Manager  Jack Doughney 

City Attorney  Lohman Law Group 

City Clerk  Patricia Snider 

Finance Administrator  Allan Owens 

Human Resources Administrator  Sheryl Stewart 

Information Technology Administrator  Eric Holdt 

Chief of Police  Stephen Stepp 

Fire Chief  Keith Bryer 

   

   

   

   
 
 
 

 



 

viii 

CITY OF PALM BEACH GARDENS, FLORIDA 
 

ORGANIZATION CHART 
 



 

ix 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
 



 

 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 





 

2 

Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the 
governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City, as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and where 
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 16 and the budgetary comparison 
schedule and notes, schedule of funding progress for OPEB, the schedules of the City’s net 
pension liability and related ratios, and proportionate share of net pension liability, schedules of 
City contributions and the schedules of investment returns for pensions, on pages 90 through 105 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We and the other 
auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the 
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion 
or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary and Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The combining and individual fund 
financial statements and schedules, and the introductory and statistical sections, are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
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The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and the other 
auditors.  In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and 
the reports of the other auditors, the combining and individual fund financial statements and 
schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as 
a whole. 
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 8, 
2018, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to solely describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or 
on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
West Palm Beach, FL 
May 8, 2018 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 
As management of the City of Palm Beach Gardens, Florida (the “City”), we offer readers of the 
City's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the 
City for the year ended September 30, 2017. Readers are encouraged to consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with additional information that is furnished in the letter of 
transmittal, which can be found on pages i to vi of this report.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City of Palm Beach Gardens exceeded 

its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by 
$103.4 million (net position).  

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $83.1 million, an increase of approximately $31.6 million in 
comparison with the prior year. 29.2% of this total amount is available for spending at the 
government's discretion (unassigned fund balance).  

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $24.3 
million, or 29.7% of total general fund expenditures for financial reporting purposes.  This 
amount includes the $1.2 million budget stabilization fund. 

 The City's total governmental activities debt increased by $25.7 million (156.9%) during the 
current fiscal year. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Palm Beach 
Gardens’ basic financial statements.  The City's basic financial statements consist of three 
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes 
to the basic financial statements.  In addition to these basic financial statements, this report 
contains other supplementary information. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements.  The government-wide financial statements are 
designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to a 
private-sector business.  
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City's assets, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash 
flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., earned but unused vacation leave). Both the government-wide 
and fund financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by 
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business-type activities). 
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The governmental activities of the City include public safety, physical environment, 
transportation, culture and recreation, and general government services.  The City does not 
operate any business-type activities. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 17 – 18 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided 
into three categories:  governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same 
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial 
statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on 
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be 
useful in evaluating the City's near term financing requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the City's near-term 
financing decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to 
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City maintains several individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in 
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund and One-Cent Sales Surtax 
Capital Improvements Fund, of which both are considered to be major funds.  Data from the 
other governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund 
data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining 
statements on pages 106 – 121 of this report. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison 
schedule has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget 
(pages 90 – 91). 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 19 – 22 of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The City maintains only one type of proprietary fund.  Internal service 
funds are used to account for the City’s fleet maintenance and self-insurance provided to all 
departments on a cost reimbursement basis. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 23 – 25 of this report.  
Combining and individual fund statements for the internal service funds can be found on pages 
122 – 124 of this report. 
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Fiduciary Funds.  Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of 
parties outside the City. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial 
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own 
programs.  The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 26 – 27 of this report.  
Combining and individual fund statements for the fiduciary funds can be found on pages 125 – 
126 of this report. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is 
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
 
The notes to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 28 – 89 of this report. 
 
Other Information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this 
report also presents certain required supplementary information including the budgetary 
comparison schedule of the General Fund and information concerning the City's progress in 
funding its obligation to provide pension and other postemployment benefits to its employees. 
 
Required supplementary information can be found on pages 90 – 105 of this report. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the City's financial 
position. In the case of the City of Palm Beach Gardens, assets and deferred outflows of 
resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $103.4 million at the close of 
the most recent fiscal year.  The largest portion of the City's net position (85.0%) represents 
investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and improvements, roadways, machinery and 
equipment), less any related outstanding debt and related deferred outflows used to acquire those 
assets.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, they are 
not available for future spending.  Although the City's investment in its capital assets is reported 
net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 
 
As the chart shown below illustrates, an additional portion of the City's net position, $9.0 million 
(8.8%), represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  
The remaining balance of unrestricted net position of $6.4 million (6.2%) may be used to meet 
the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
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City of Palm Beach Gardens 

Summary of Net Position 
September 30, 2017 and 2016 

 
The following table illustrates a summary of net position for Governmental activities: 
 

2017 2016
Current and other assets 108,029,488$  72,682,159$    
Capital assets, net 100,547,320    94,640,606      
   Total assets 208,576,808    167,322,765    

   Total deferred outflows of resources 31,036,373      25,169,878      

Long-term liabilities 115,176,701    84,543,565      
Other liabilities 14,097,683      10,069,396      
   Total liabilities 129,274,384    94,612,961      

   Total deferred inflows of resources 6,914,660        2,871,271        

Net investment in capital assets 87,952,986      78,370,940      
Restricted 9,051,076        12,549,249      
Unrestricted 6,420,075        4,088,222        
   Total net position 103,424,137$  95,008,411$    

Governmental Activities

 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in net position for 
all governmental type activities. 
 
There was an overall increase in the City’s assets of $41.3 million or 24.7% during the current 
fiscal year.  This was mainly due to the establishment of a one-cent sales surtax capital 
improvement fund, increases in cash and investments from the proceeds of a $30.0 million bond 
issuance, as well as increases in ad valorem tax revenues relating to rising property valuations 
and to increases in capital assets relating to the increase in the number of city-wide projects. 
 
The City’s deferred inflows and outflows of resources as well as a portion of liabilities all 
significantly changed due to the posting of activity to record changes in the net pension liability 
as well as deferred inflows and outflows relating to the City’s pension plans.  The most 
significant change in liabilities is related to the issuance of the $30.0 million one-cent sales 
surtax capital improvement bonds.  The current year changes resulted in an increase to deferred 
outflows of resources of $5.9 million, an increase in liabilities of $34.7 million, and an increase 
in deferred inflows of resources of $4.0 million. 
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The following table summarizes changes in net position for governmental activities: 
 

City of Palm Beach Gardens 
Summary of Changes in Net Position 

Years Ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 
 

2017 2016
Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services 28,301,685$      26,301,820$    
Operating grants and contributions 1,529,434          1,679,128        
Capital grants and contributions 415,926             596,851           

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes 55,324,350        51,974,181      
Local business tax 1,608,214          1,600,232        
Public service taxes 2,028,360          2,015,310        

Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Sales tax and local option gas tax 7,010,462          4,736,527        
State shared revenue 1,694,011          1,601,965        
Local shared revenue 68,618               38,788             
Unrestricted investment earnings 497,772             442,722           
Gain on disposal of capital assets 397,739             293,043           
Miscellaneous 1,904,266          1,534,383        

Total revenues 100,780,837      92,814,950      

Expenses:
General government 20,064,766        17,541,387      
Public safety 48,503,388        43,962,040      
Culture/recreation 8,904,360          8,301,284        
Physical environment 10,991,757        9,700,482        
Transportation 2,742,420          2,050,549        
Interest on long-term debt 1,095,700          752,961           
Other debt service costs 62,720               --                     

Total expenses 92,365,111        82,308,703      

Change in net position 8,415,726          10,506,247      
Net position – beginning 95,008,411        84,502,164      
Net position – ending 103,424,137$    95,008,411$    

Governmental 
Activities
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Governmental Activities.  As illustrated in the table on the previous page, net position of the 
City's governmental activities increased by approximately $8.4 million or 8.9% from $95.0 
million in last fiscal year to $103.4 million in the current fiscal year.  Key elements of this 
increase are: 
 
 Total revenues exceeded expenses by $8.4 million mostly due to a continued increase in 

taxable values, new construction activity, and the addition of a new one-cent sales surtax.  
 

 Total revenues increased $8.0 million as a result of an increase in property taxes of $3.4 
million (6.5%) due to rising property values, $2.3 million (48.0%) increase in sales tax 
related to the establishment of a one-cent sales surtax for infrastructure projects and an 
increase in charges for services of $2.0 million (7.6%) due to an increase in new 
construction activity that increased building permits and related revenues. 
 

 Total expenses increased $10.1 million (12.2%), mainly due to personnel increases, filling 
of vacant and new positions, and the effect of posting the change in the net pension 
liability.   

 
The chart below depicts expenses and program revenues by function for all governmental 
activities.  The graph illustrates the relatively minor amount of support for governmental 
operations that is derived from program revenues. 
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As illustrated in the chart above, property taxes comprise 54.9% of total governmental activity 
revenues. 
 
Financial Analysis of the City's Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the City of Palm Beach Gardens uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds.  The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in 
assessing the City's financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as 
a useful measure of the City's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
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As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $83.2 million, an increase of $31.7 million in comparison with the prior year. 
 
Approximately 29.2% of this total amount ($24.3 million) represents unassigned fund balance, 
which includes the budget stabilization fund and amounts available for spending at the City's 
discretion.  The remainder of fund balance was restricted, committed, assigned, or nonspendable 
for a variety of purposes, such as construction projects, infrastructure improvements, economic 
development, and law enforcement. 
 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City.  General tax revenues and other 
receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund are accounted for 
in this fund.  General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital improvement costs not 
paid through other funds are paid from this fund. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $24.3 
million, nonspendable fund balance was approximately $3.4 million, restricted fund balance was 
approximately $853 thousand, committed fund balance was approximately $2.3 million, and 
assigned fund balance was $13.5 million for a total fund balance of $44.4 million. 
 
The amount of General Fund revenues by type, their percent of the total and the amount of 
change compared to last fiscal year are shown in the following schedule: 
 

Percent Percent Increase

2017 of 2016 of (Decrease)

Revenue Sources Amount Total Amount Total From 2016

Taxes 58,960,924  $     68.3% 55,589,723  $    69.1% 3,371,201  $    6.1%
Special assessment 114,377              0.1% --                   0.0% 114,377           100.0%
Franchise fees 5,564,984           6.4% 5,425,438          6.7% 139,546           2.6%
Licenses and permits 5,832,223           6.8% 4,905,124          6.1% 927,099           18.9%
Intergovernmental 7,236,439           8.4% 7,318,904          9.1% (82,465)            (1.1)%
Charges for services 6,382,549           7.4% 5,457,325          6.8% 925,224           17.0%
Fines and forfeitures 166,503              0.2% 313,208             0.4% (146,705)          -46.8%
Investment income 336,500              0.4% 424,701             0.5% (88,201)            (20.8)%
Miscellaneous 1,757,015           2.0% 1,051,320          1.3% 705,695           67.1%

   Total revenues 86,351,514  $     100.0% 80,485,743  $    100.0% 5,865,771  $    7.3%

Percentage

of Increase

(Decrease)
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As illustrated above, General Fund revenues increased by approximately $5.9 million, or 7.3%, 
in fiscal year 2017. 
 
Taxes increased by $3.4 million or 6.1% as a result of an increase in property values and new 
construction.  Licenses and permits increased by $927 thousand or 18.9% as a result of an 
increase in building permits related to the continued increase in construction activity occurring 
within the City.  Charges for services increased by $925 thousand or 17.0% due to an increase in 
charges relating to inspection fees and EMS transport fees.  Miscellaneous revenue increased by 
$706 thousand or 67.1% due to increases in police and fire donations and a $250 thousand 
developer remediation payment.    
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The graph above illustrates the percentage composition of General Fund revenues by type.  As 
can be seen, Taxes comprise the majority of General Fund revenues, with the next largest 
sources of revenues being Intergovernmental revenues and Charges for Services. 
 
Expenditures in the General Fund are shown in the following schedule: 

Percent Percent Increase
2017 of 2016 of (Decrease)

Expenditures Amount Total Amount Total From 2016

General government 16,736,979  $     20.3% 15,762,838  $  20.0% 974,141  $     6.2%
Public safety 43,715,174         53.4% 42,856,500      54.6% 858,674         2.0%
Culture and recreation 749,135              0.9% 692,974           0.9% 56,161           8.1%
Physical environment 9,606,325           11.7% 8,203,345        10.5% 1,402,980      17.1%
Capital outlay 6,606,309           8.1% 6,341,650        8.1% 264,659         4.2%
Debt service 4,433,249           5.4% 4,600,928        5.9% (167,679)       (3.6)%
   Total expenditures 81,847,171  $     100.0% 78,458,235  $  100.0% 3,388,936  $  4.3%

Percentage
of Increase
(Decrease)
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In fiscal year 2017, total General Fund expenditures increased $3.4 million or 4.3% compared to 
the prior year.  The increase in general government of $974 thousand is due to salary increases 
and the filling of vacant positions.  The increase in public safety of $859 thousand relates to 
salary increases.  Physical environment increased by $1.4 million due to an increase in 
stormwater repairs and maintenance. 
 
As illustrated in the graph below, Public Safety expenditures account for 54.6% of total General 
Fund expenditures. 
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One-Cent Sales Surtax Capital Improvements Fund.  The City’s One-Cent Sales Surtax 
Capital Improvements Fund was established during the fiscal year as a capital project fund to 
account for the receipt and disbursement of a voter approved one-cent sales infrastructure surtax 
restricted for the purpose of constructing infrastructure projects within the City.  Revenues 
consisted of approximately $2.2 million from the one-cent sales surtax and $147 thousand from 
investment income.  Capital outlay expenditures of $265 thousand were related to the beginning 
design phase of certain infrastructure projects.  Bond proceeds of $30 million and debt service 
costs of $3.2 million were related to the funding of infrastructure projects with the use of future 
one-cent sales surtax revenues to make the bond payments.  At the end of the current fiscal year, 
fund balance was $28.9 million.   
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
During the past year, the budget was amended two times.  The Council authorized the budget 
amendments principally to: 
 
 Adjust the carryover of funds by the amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for 

purchase orders and projects from the previous fiscal year. 
 Adjust fund balance carryovers to actual amounts per the fiscal year 2016 audit. 
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 Establish a new fund to account for the projected One-Cent Infrastructure Sales Surtax 
receipts and disbursements. 

 Record the issuance of a $30 million public improvement bond. 
 

Actual revenue exceeded final budgeted revenue by approximately $4.6 million mostly due to 
favorable variances in building permit activity of $2.5 million, inspection and engineering fees of 
$812 thousand due to an increase in building permit and construction activity, EMS transport 
fees of $536 thousand, and miscellaneous revenue of $850 thousand due to a development 
remediation payment and an increase in public safety contributions. 
 
Expenditures were $9.5 million less than the final budget.  The variance is mostly attributed to 
unspent capital projects and purchase orders that will be included in the next fiscal year’s budget 
amendment to carryover funds. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets.  The following table illustrates the City’s capital assets for its governmental 
activities as of September 30, 2017, which amount to $100.5 million (net of accumulated 
depreciation).  This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, roadways, drainage and 
structures, improvements other than buildings and machinery and equipment.  The total increase 
in the City's capital assets for the current fiscal year was 6.2%. 

 

2017 2016
Land 15,209,845$    14,852,345$    
Construction in progress 8,093,693        9,557,507        
Buildings 18,979,716      18,524,543      
Roadways 23,812,448      22,251,696      
Drainage and structures 12,822,550      13,007,239      
Machinery and equipment 9,762,195        6,855,601        
Improvements other than buildings 11,866,873      9,591,675        
   Total 100,547,320$  94,640,606$    

Governmental
Activities

 
 
Major capital asset additions during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

 Roadway improvement projects to 117th Court North Expansion and 40th 
Street/Sunset/Brenna Lane Improvements totaling approximately $2.6 million. 
 

 Police Tactical Training Facility Building Project improvements and equipment totaling 
$3 million. 
 

 Capital lease purchases of two fire trucks, two rescue units and twenty police vehicles 
totaling approximately $2.5 million. 
 

 Joseph R. Russo Park improvements totaling $2.7 million. 
 

 
Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note 5 starting on page 49 of 
this report. 
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Long-term Debt.  The following table illustrates the City’s governmental activities long-term 
debt.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total debt outstanding of $42.1 million.  
All of the City's outstanding debt is secured by specified revenue sources. 
 

2017 2016
Debt payable:

General obligation bonds 1,730,056$    2,884,475$    
Non ad valorem bonds payable 36,034,532    10,846,217    
Capital leases payable 4,378,159      2,676,052      

Total 42,142,747$  16,406,744$  

Governmental
Activities

 
All of the City’s general obligation debt is rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s and Aaa by 
Moody’s.  The City’s non-ad valorem debt is rated AA+ by Standard & Poor’s and Fitch and 
Aa1 by Moody’s.  The City’s comprehensive plan provides that debt expenditures shall not 
exceed 20% of total annual revenues and total outstanding debt is limited to no more than 10% 
of the City’s property tax base. 
 
Additional information on the City's long-term debt can be found in Note 6 starting on page 50 
of this report. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates 
 
The City's local economy is primarily based upon construction, retail and service activities.  The 
unemployment rate for the City is currently 3.4%.  The City’s current economic condition 
continues to expand as new construction continues to grow with $560 million in permit 
valuations issued during the fiscal year. 
 
These factors were considered in preparing the City of Palm Beach Gardens’ budget for the year 
ending September 30, 2018. 
 
During the current fiscal year, unassigned 
fund balance in the General Fund was $24.3 
million.  It is approximately equal to three 
and a half months of the General Fund 
expenditures.  The current year balance 
includes approximately $1.2 million as part 
of the budget stabilization fund.  Over the 
last ten years, the City has been able to 
maintain its unassigned fund balance, not 
only in dollar value but as a percentage of 
expenditures, within the fund balance policy 
target of 17% as shown in the graph to the 
right. 
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In 1995, the State of 
Florida limited increases 
in homesteaded property 
taxable values in any 
given year to 3% or cost 
of living, whichever is 
lower.  The graph to the 
left indicates the 
property tax revenue 
collected and millage 
rate trends over the last 
ten years.  The left axis 
refers to the millage rate 
and the right axis refers 
to the dollar value 
(millions) of revenue 
collected.  The millage 
rate will fluctuate from 
year to year depending 
on the total taxable value 
of the City and the 
required amount of 
revenue needed to 
maintain current levels 
of service.  In next year’s 
budget, the City has 
reduced the millage rate 
slightly as taxable 
property values have 
continued to increase. 

 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Palm Beach 
Gardens’ finances for all those with an interest in the City's finances. 
 
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to Allan Owens, Finance Administrator, Finance 
Department, City of Palm Beach Gardens, 10500 North Military Trail, Palm Beach Gardens, 
Florida  33410. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City of Palm Beach Gardens, Florida (the “City”) was incorporated in 1959, pursuant 
to House Bill No. 2186, and is located in Northern Palm Beach County, Florida.  The City 
is governed by an elected City Council (the “Council”), which appoints a City Manager.  
The City provides the following services to its residents: public safety, growth 
management, sanitation, streets and roads, parks, recreation and a golf course.  The Council 
is responsible for legislative and fiscal control of the City.  The City operates under a 
Council-Manager form of government. 
 
Significant accounting and reporting policies and practices used by the City are described 
below: 
 
A. FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY 
 
The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) as applied to governmental 
units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard 
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 
 
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with GASB Codification Section 
2100, which establishes standards for defining and reporting on the financial reporting 
entity.  The definition of the financial reporting entity is based upon the concept that elected 
officials are accountable to their constituents for their actions.  One of the objectives of 
financial reporting is to provide users of financial statements with a basis for assessing the 
accountability of elected officials.  The financial reporting entity consists of the City, 
organizations for which the City is financially accountable and other organizations for 
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the City are such that exclusion 
would cause the City’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  The City is 
financially accountable for a component unit if it appoints a voting majority of the 
organization’s governing board and it is able to impose its will on that organization or there 
is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose 
specific financial burdens on the City.  Based upon the application of these criteria, there 
were no organizations that met the criteria for component units described above. 
 
B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the City.  
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant 
extent on fees and charges for services.  The City reported no business-type activities 
during the current fiscal year. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those expenses that 
are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include:  1) 
charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, 
services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operation or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and 
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements.  Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the 
fund financial statements.  All remaining nonmajor governmental funds are aggregated and 
reported as other governmental funds. 
 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and 
fiduciary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by 
the provider have been met.  Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the 
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  
Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period 
or soon thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the City 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 
current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as 
under accrual accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures 
related to compensated absences and other postemployment benefits are recorded only 
when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes when levied for, franchise taxes, licenses, charges for services, 
intergovernmental if eligibility requirements are met, and interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be measurable and so have been recognized as 
revenues of the current fiscal period if available.  All other revenue items are considered to 
be measurable only when cash is received by the City. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

(CONTINUED) 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund – The general fund is the primary operating fund and is used to 
account for all financial resources applicable to the general operations of the City except 
those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The One-Cent Sales Surtax Capital Improvements Fund – This capital projects fund 
accounts for the receipt and disbursement of a voter approved one-cent sales 
infrastructure surtax restricted for the purpose of constructing infrastructure projects 
within the City. 

 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 

The Internal Service Funds – The City operates two internal service funds to account for 
fleet management services provided to other departments on a cost reimbursement basis 
and to account for self-insurance health benefits. 
 
The Pension Trust Funds – The City’s three defined benefit pension plans are accounted 
for in individual pension trust funds.  The pension trust funds are the General Employees’ 
Pension, the Police Pension and the Fire Pension. 
 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements.  Interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in the 
process of consolidation. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include:  1) charges to customers or applicants for 
goods, services or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital 
grants and contributions, including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are 
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues 
include all taxes.  Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from 
nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing 
services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of an internal service fund 
are charges to other funds for usage.  Operating expenses for the internal service fund 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

(CONTINUED) 
 
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital 
assets.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. 
 
IMPLEMENTATION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD STATEMENTS 
 
GASB Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures 
This statement addresses disclosure requirements for governments that enter into tax 
abatement agreements.  The Statement intends to improve financial reporting by giving 
users of financial statements more transparent details about the effect that tax abatement has 
on financial position and results of operations.  The adoption of GASB 77 results in 
increased disclosures related to tax abatement agreements.  The adoption of this statement 
did not have any impact on the City’s current year financial statements but could require 
disclosure in future year financial statements. 
 
GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Pools and Pool Participants 
This statement established specific criteria used to determine whether a qualifying external 
investment pool may elect to use an amortized cost exception to fair value measurement.  
The adoption of this statement did not have any impact on the City’s current year financial 
statements. 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as deposits with financial institutions, money market 
accounts, local government investment pools and highly liquid investments which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have a maturity when purchased of three 
months or less. 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents also include each 
respective fund’s equity in pooled cash and investments that are described above.  Each 
fund is able to withdraw cash at any time without prior notice or penalty and there is 
sufficient liquidity to meet the daily cash needs of each fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
INVESTMENTS 
 
The City categorizes investments according to the fair value hierarchy established by GASB 
Statement No. 72.  The hierarchy is based on observable and unobservable inputs used in 
establishing the fair value of a financial asset or liability.  Investments are reported at fair 
value based on quoted market prices in active markets on a trade date basis.  Money market 
mutual funds and commercial paper that has a remaining life of one year or less upon 
acquisition are reported at amortized cost. Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of 
investments includes the difference between cost and fair value of investments held as well as 
the net realized gains and losses for securities which are sold.  Interest and dividend income 
are recognized on the accrual basis when earned.  Purchases and sales of investments are 
recorded on a trade basis.  Additional information regarding the fair value measurement of 
investments is disclosed in Note 2. 
 
INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
Activity between funds that is representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds.” 
 
RECEIVABLES 
 
Receivables include amounts due for a special assessment, franchise taxes, utility taxes, 
extra police services and emergency medical services.  The City does not require collateral 
for accounts receivable.  Receivables for emergency medical service billings are reported 
net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is determined based on the age of the 
individual receivable.  Generally, the allowance includes accounts over 60 days past due.  
Accounts receivable are written off on an individual basis in the year the City deems them 
to be uncollectible. 
 
INVENTORY 
 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the first-in, first-out 
basis and accounted for using the consumption method whereby inventories are charged 
against operations in the period when used.  Inventory in the special revenue recreation and 
golf funds consists of merchandise held for resale.  Inventory in the internal service fund 
consists of vehicle engine parts and fuel held for consumption.  The non-spendable portion 
of fund balance for inventory in governmental fund types equals the physical inventory to 
indicate that a portion of fund balance is not available for appropriation. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
PREPAID ITEMS 
 
Prepaid items consists of certain costs which have been paid prior to the end of the fiscal 
year, but represent items which are applicable to future accounting periods.  Reported 
amounts in governmental funds are equally offset by a non-spendable category of fund 
balance to indicate that these amounts are not available for appropriation. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure (e.g., streets, 
sidewalks, drainage or similar items) are reported in governmental activities in the 
government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements.  Capital 
assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of $5,000 or more and 
an estimated life in excess of one year.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or 
estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at 
acquisition value on the date of donation.  Lease agreements that qualify as capital leases 
are recorded at the present value of their future minimum lease payments as of the inception 
date.  The City did not retroactively record their intangible assets with the implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 51.  For fiscal year 2017, no separately identifiable assets met the 
threshold for recording. 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed.  The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the 
asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 
Property, plant, equipment and infrastructure of the City are depreciated using the straight-
line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Years
Buildings 15 – 25
Roadways 3 – 40
Drainage and structures 35 – 75
Machinery and equipment 3 – 7
Improvements other than buildings 15
Land improvements 25

 

In the governmental fund financial statements, capital assets are reported as expenditures 
and no depreciation expense is reported. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
UNEARNED REVENUE, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 
Unearned revenue is a liability that arises when resources are obtained before revenue 
recognition criteria, other than time recognition criteria, have been satisfied.  The unearned 
revenue consists mainly of business taxes and impact fees received in advance of the year 
for which they are levied.  These amounts are recognized as revenue in the year that the 
revenue recognition criteria has been met. 
 
In addition to assets and liabilities, the government-wide statement of net position and the 
governmental funds balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows or deferred inflows of resources.  The separate financial statement element, 
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a 
future period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenditure/ 
expense) until that time. The separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenues) until that time.  
 
The City has one item, unavailable revenues relating to a special assessment that is reported 
as a deferred inflow of resources within the governmental fund financial statements.  These 
amounts are recognized as revenue in the year that the amounts become available. 
 
Within the government-wide statement of net position, the City reports deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources related to pensions for amounts representing the net 
difference between expected and actual results, changes in assumptions and projected and 
actual earnings of its pension plans.  The amounts will be amortized over a five-year closed 
period beginning in the year in which the difference occurred or over the remaining service 
lives of all employees, as applicable.  See Note 8 for additional details.  
 
The City also recognizes a deferred charge on refunding, which qualifies for reporting as a 
deferred outflow of resources reported on the government-wide statement of net position.  
The refunding loss on bonds payable resulted from the difference in the carrying value of 
refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the 
shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 
It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but 
unused personal leave, which will be paid upon separation of service. Compensated 
absences are accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements.  A liability for these amounts is reported in the governmental funds only if it 
has matured, for example, as a result of employee resignation or retirements.  Compensated 
absences for governmental activities typically have been liquidated in the general fund. 
 
ON-BEHALF PAYMENTS 
 
The City receives on-behalf payments from the State of Florida to be used for Police and 
Fire-Rescue pension benefits.  Such payments are recorded as intergovernmental revenue 
and public safety expenditures in the GAAP basis government-wide and general fund 
financial statements, but are not budgeted and therefore are not included in the general fund 
budgetary comparison schedule.  On-behalf payments paid to the City by the State totaled 
$1,085,186 for the year ended September 30, 2017.  Pursuant to City Ordinance, the Fire 
Pension deducts 2% of the total compensation for participants from the Chapter 175 taxes 
received during the fiscal year and allocates this amount as Employee Contributions in lieu 
of increasing the members’ contribution rate. 
 
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund type financial 
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities or proprietary fund type statement of net position.  Bond 
premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the 
effective interest method.  Bond issuance costs are recognized during the current period.  
Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of 
debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are 
reported as other financing sources, while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other 
financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds 
received and principal payments on debt are reported as debt service expenditures. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
NET OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 
 
The City is required to calculate and recognize a net other postemployment benefit 
obligation at September 30, 2017.  The net other postemployment benefit obligation is, in 
general, the cumulative difference between the actuarial required contribution and the 
actual contributions.  Net other postemployment benefit obligations have typically been 
liquidated in the general fund. 
 
NET POSITION 
 
Equity in the government-wide statement of net position is displayed in three categories:  1) 
net investment in capital assets, 2) restricted, and 3) unrestricted.  Net investment in capital 
assets consist of capital assets reduced by accumulated depreciation and by any outstanding 
debt and any deferred inflows/outflows associated with the debt, incurred to acquire, 
construct or improve those assets, excluding unexpended proceeds.  Net position is reported 
as restricted when there are legal limitations imposed on their use by City legislation or 
external restrictions by other governments, creditors or grantors.  Unrestricted net position 
consists of all remaining net position that does not meet the definition of either of the other 
two components. 
 
FUND BALANCE 
 
In the fund financial statements, fund balance is a measurement of available financial 
resources and is the difference between total assets and deferred outflows and total liabilities 
and deferred inflows in each fund.  Governmental accounting principles distinguish fund 
balance classification based on the relative strength of the constraints that control the 
purposes for which specified amounts can be spent.  Beginning with the most restrictive 
constraints, the City’s fund balance amounts will be reported in the following categories: 

 
Nonspendable.  Represents amounts that are not in a spendable form, or are legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact. 

 
Restricted.  Represents amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated 
by external parties either constitutionally or through enabling legislation. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
FUND BALANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Committed.  Represents amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined 
by a formal action (ordinance or resolution which are of equal authority) of the City 
Council.  The City Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the City. 
Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through the same action that 
created the commitment.  

 
Assigned.   Represents amounts intended to be used by the City for specific purposes.  
Intent can be expressed by the City Council or by a designee to whom the governing body 
delegates the authority.  Under the City’s adopted policy through resolution, only the City 
Council or City Manager may assign amounts for specific purposes.  In governmental funds 
other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the amount that is not 
restricted or committed.  This indicates that resources in other governmental funds are, at a 
minimum, intended to be used for the purpose of that fund. 

 
Unassigned.  Includes all amounts not contained in other classifications and is the residual 
classification of the General Fund only.  Unassigned amounts are the portion of fund 
balance which is not obligated or specifically designated and is available for any purpose. 

 
The goal of the City’s fund balance policy is to achieve and maintain an unassigned fund 
balance in the General Fund at fiscal year-end of not less than 17% of expenditures, which 
represents approximately two (2) months’ operating expenditures.  If the unassigned fund 
balance at fiscal year-end falls below the goal, the City shall develop a restoration plan to 
achieve and maintain the minimum fund balance.  At the end of the fiscal year, the City’s 
unassigned fund balance equaled 29.7% of expenditures. 
 
FLOW ASSUMPTIONS 

 
Net Position Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and 
unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted - net position 
and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be 
applied.  It is the City’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been depleted 
before unrestricted – net position is applied. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
FLOW ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
Fund Balance Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and 
unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  In 
order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned 
fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be 
made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the City’s 
policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the 
components of unrestricted fund balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted 
fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 
followed by assigned fund balance.  Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 
 
USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and deferred 
inflows/outflows and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements.  Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
estimates. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2017, excluding amounts held by Fiduciary 
Funds, include petty cash of $24,755 and deposits with financial institutions with a carrying 
value of $22,368,009 and a bank balance of $24,859,674.  Cash equivalents also includes 
$19,988,046 in money market funds which are recorded at amortized cost.  Cash 
equivalents consist of amounts invested in money market mutual funds and the Florida 
Education Investment Trust Fund (FEITF).   
 
The FEITF is an external investment pool that is not registered with the Securities 
Exchange Commission (SEC) but operates in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a-7 
of the Investment Company Act of 1940.  Rule 2a-7 allows funds to use amortized cost to 
maintain a constant net asset value of $1.00 per share.  There are no restrictions or fees to 
withdrawal from this pool.    
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Cash of the Fiduciary Funds at September 30, 2017, consist of deposits with financial 
institutions with a carrying value and bank balance of $2,121,295. 
 
City deposits with financial institutions were entirely covered by a combination of federal 
depository insurance and a collateral pool pledged to the State Treasurer of Florida by 
financial institutions which comply with the requirements of Florida Statutes and have been 
designated as a qualified public depository by the State Treasurer.  Qualified public 
depositories are required to pledge collateral to the State Treasurer with a fair value equal to 
a percentage of the average daily balance of all government deposits in excess of any 
federal deposit insurance.  In the event of a default by a qualified public depository, all 
claims for government deposits would be satisfied by the State Treasurer from the proceeds 
of federal deposit insurance, pledged collateral of the public depository in default and, if 
necessary, a pro rata assessment to the other qualified public depositories in the collateral 
pool.  Accordingly, all deposits with financial institutions are considered fully insured.  The 
money market mutual fund deposits are uninsured and uncollateralized. 
 
INVESTMENTS 
 
Florida Statutes and the City’s investment policy authorize the City to invest in obligations 
and agencies of the U.S. Government; fully collateralized interest bearing time deposits or 
savings accounts with banks or savings and loan associations; the State Board of 
Administration Florida PRIME Fund; local government investment pools; short term 
corporate obligations; investments in any open-end or closed-end management type 
investment company or investment trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 
1940, provided the portfolio of such investment company is limited to Government 
Obligations and to repurchase agreements fully collateralized by such Government 
Obligations; Government National Mortgage Association, Fannie Mae or Florida Home 
Loan Mortgage Corporation.  The City’s Pension Boards have full power and authority to 
invest and reinvest subject to the general terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions 
imposed by Part VII, Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, on the investments of public employee 
retirement systems. 
 
The General Employees’ Pension Plan is a participating member in the Florida Municipal 
Pension Trust Fund (FMPTF) and therefore the investments follow the policies established 
by the Master Trust Agreement.  The agreement provides that the Master Trustees have the 
authority and discretion to manage and control the assets of the FMPTF.  The established  
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
investment policy and portfolio guidelines are designed to assist the plan administrator in 
monitoring the assets and to guide investment managers with structuring portfolios that are 
consistent with the FMPTF desired performance results and levels of acceptable risk.  A 
variance of more than 5% from the approved allocation percentages of any asset class 
requires approval by the Master Trustees. The FMPTF has adopted operating procedures 
consistent with the requirements for a 2a-7 like pool.  The FMPTF is an external investment 
pool and therefore, the fair value of the City’s position in the pool is the same as the value 
of pool shares.   
 
Due to the various risks associated with certain investments, it is at least reasonably 
possible that changes in the values of investments will occur in the near term and that such 
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The 
City categorizes is fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles.  The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three levels based on the extent to 
which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. 
 
Level 1 
Investments’ fair values based on prices quoted in active markets for identical assets. 
 
Level 2 
Investments’ fair values based on observable inputs for the assets either directly or 
indirectly, other than those considered Level 1 inputs, which may include quoted prices for 
identical assets in markets that are not considered to be active, and quoted prices of similar 
assets in active or inactive markets. 
 
Level 3 
Investments’ fair values based upon unobservable inputs. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED) 
 
The following is a description of the fair value techniques for the City’s investments.  Level 
1 and 2 prices are obtained from various pricing sources by the City’s custodian bank: 
 

Money market funds, commercial paper and FEITF that have a remaining maturity of 
one year or less upon acquisition, are reported at amortized cost. 

 
Equity securities traded on national or international exchanges are valued at the last 
reported sales price or current exchange rates (Level 1).  This includes common stock 
and mutual fund equities.  
 
Debt securities classified as Level 2 are valued using pricing inputs that reflect the 
assumptions market participants would use to price an asset or liability and are 
developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting 
entity.  This includes U.S. federal agencies, mortgage backed and collateralized 
securities, municipal bonds, and corporate obligations, including asset backed, bonds 
and notes. 
 
The General Employees’ Pension Plan invests in various funds in which the underlying 
securities have observable Level 1 quoted pricing inputs or observable Level 2 
significant other observable pricing inputs. Most of the security prices were obtained 
from a pricing service, Interactive Data Corporation (IDC). While the underlying asset 
values are based on quoted prices or market-corroborated inputs, the net asset value of 
the portfolio is not publicly quoted. Value is based on market corroborated data. (Level 
2 inputs).  
 
The General Employees’ Pension Plan also invest in a Core Plus Fixed Income Fund.  
This fund invests in two underlying funds, which are not publicly quoted. These 
underlying funds invest in a variety of financial instruments, including equity 
investments, asset-backed securities, debt securities, swaps, forward exchange 
contracts, credit-linked notes, escrow accounts, litigation trusts for both U.S. and 
foreign companies and governments. Value is based on unobservable inputs. (Level 3 
inputs).  
 
The Police Officer and Fire Pensions hold certain investments in alternative assets 
consisting of real estate funds and a collective investment trust fund which hold a 
variety of investment vehicles that do not have readily available market quotations.  
The alternative investments are measured at net asset value based on their proportionate 
share of the value of the investments as determined by the fund managers and are 
valued according to methodologies which include pricing models, discounted cash flow 
models and similar techniques.   
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED) 
 
The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30, 2017: 
 

Investment Types Fair Value

 Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1) 

Significant 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs       
(Level 3)

Primary Government

U.S. Government obligations 11,734,685$           --$                     11,734,685$    --$               

Mortgage backed securities 8,969,501               --                       8,969,501           --                 

Corporate obligations 4,116,969               --                       4,116,969           --                 

Municipal obligations 301,875                  --                       301,875              --                 

Total Investments by Fair Value Level 25,123,030             --$                     25,123,030$       --$               

Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) *

Florida Education Investment Trust Fund Term 15,000,000             

Total Investments Measured at NAV 15,000,000             

Commercial paper (exempt) 16,297,157             

Total Primary Government Investments 56,420,187$           

Fiduciary Funds

Investments by fair value level:

U.S. Government obligations 8,861,453$             2,662,937$    6,198,516$         --$               

Mortgage-backed securities 4,748,269               --                    4,748,269           --                 

Collateralized mortgage obligations 1,865,393               --                       1,865,393           --                 

Fixed income funds 7,402,916               --                       7,402,916           --                 

Corporate obligations 15,945,903             --                       15,945,903         --                 

Municipal obligations 922,611                  --                       922,611              --                 

Foreign bonds 675,425                  --                       675,425              --                 

Equity securities 62,384,429             60,526,976        1,857,453           --                 

Equity funds 51,695,357             50,428,386        1,266,971           --                 

International funds 267,528                  --                       267,528              --                 

International bond funds 3,495,094               3,495,094          --                         --                 

Total Investments by Fair Value Level 158,264,378           117,113,393$    41,150,985$       --$               

Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV) *

FMIvT core plus fixed income fund 583,009                  

Real estate funds 16,590,193             

Equity common trust fund 5,485,372               

Total Investments Measured at NAV 22,658,574             

Money market funds (exempt) 3,878,270               

Total Fiduciary Funds Investments 184,801,222$         
 

 

* As required by generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), certain investments that are measured at 
net asset value have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.  The fair value amounts presented in this 
table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the total investment line item in the 
financial statements. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED) 
 
The following table summarizes investments for which fair value is measured using the net 
asset value per share practical expedient, including their related unfunded commitments and 
redemption restrictions. 
 

Investments Measured at the NAV Redemption Redemption
Fair Unfunded Frequency (if Notice

Value Commitments Currently Eligible) Period (Days)
Primary Government

Florida Education Investment 

  Trust Fund Term 1 15,000,000$       --$                 N/A 7 days

Fiduciary Funds

FMIvT core plus fixed income fund2 583,009              --                   Monthly 5 days

Real estate fund 3 11,679,381         --                   Quarterly 10 days

Real estate fund 4 4,910,812           --                   Quarterly 90 days
Equity common trust fund 5 5,485,372           --                   Monthly 5 days

Total Investments Measured at NAV 37,658,574$       --$                 
 

 
(1) Florida Education Investment Trust Fund: The fund’s strategy is to invest funds in commercial paper and 
negotiable certificates of deposit with maturities of up to one year to benefit from the wider sector spreads 
available as a result of the outflow of investors from prime institutional money market funds. Shares of 
FEITF Term Series are purchased to mature upon pre-determined maturity dates selected by the investor at 
the time of purchase. Should an investor need to redeem shares in an FEITF Term Series prematurely, they 
must provide notice at least 7 days prior to the premature redemption date. 
 
(2) FMIvT Core Plus Fixed Income Fund: This non-mutual commingled fund invests in a broad spectrum of 
fixed and floating rate debt securities that are diversified by credit quality, geography, and duration.  The 
investment is valued at NAV. 
 
(3) Real estate fund: The fund is an open-end diversified core real estate commingled fund that invests 
primarily in core institutional office, retail, industrial, and multi-family properties located throughout the 
United States. The investment is valued at NAV and its redemptions must be received by the fund 10 days 
prior to quarter end. 
 
(4) Real estate fund: The fund is an open-ended real estate investment fund investing primarily in core 
institutional office, retail, industrial, and multi-family properties located throughout the United States. The 
investment is valued at NAV and its redemptions must be received by the fund 90 days prior to quarter end. 
 
(5) Equity common trust fund: The fund is an international equity commingled fund that consists of assets 
invested in a diversified portfolio of foreign equity securities deemed to be undervalued by the fund’s 
investment team. The investment is valued at NAV and its redemptions must be received by the fund 5 
days prior to month end. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED) 
 
The value, liquidity, and related income of certain securities with contractual cash flows, 
such as asset backed securities collateralized by mortgage obligations, commercial 
mortgage backed securities, and mutual funds investing in these securities or entities, are 
particularly sensitive to changes in economic conditions, including real estate value, 
delinquencies or defaults, or both, and may be adversely affected by shifts in the market’s 
perception of the issuers and changes in interest rates. 
 
INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value 
of an investment.  Interest rate risk disclosures are required for fixed income securities 
including debt investment pools - such as bond mutual funds and external bond investment 
pools—that do not meet the requirements to be reported as a 2a7-like pool.  Generally, the 
longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in 
market interest rates.  Cash equivalents have a weighted average maturity of ninety days or 
less, resulting in minimal interest rate risk.  As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value 
losses arising from rising interest rates, the City’s investment policy states that securities 
included within the short term fund will have maturities of less than one year.  Investments 
included in the core fund will have a maximum maturity of five (5) years.  Although the 
Fiduciary Funds’ investment policies do not provide limitations as to maturities, the Funds 
minimize the risk of fair value losses in fixed income portfolios due to rising interest rates 
by structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet ongoing cash 
requirements, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on the open market prior to 
maturity; and by investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities or by cash 
flow projections.  The table below summarizes the scheduled maturities of fixed income 
investments at September 30, 2017: 

Less Than One to Six to More Than
Investment Types Value One Year Five Years Ten Years Ten Years

Primary Government
U.S. Government obligations 11,734,685$      --$                   11,734,685$   --$                 --$                 
Mortgage backed securities 8,969,501          --                 8,969,501    --               --               
Corporate obligations 4,116,969          --                 4,116,969    --               --               
Municipal obligations 301,875             --                 301,875       --               --               
Commercial paper 16,297,157        16,297,157  --                 --               --               
Florida Education Investment 
Trust 15,000,000        15,000,000  --                 --               --               

Total Primary Government 56,420,187$      31,297,157$   25,123,030$   --$                 --$                 

Investment Maturities
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED) 
 

Less Than One to Six to More Than
Investment Types Value One Year Five Years Ten Years Ten Years

Investment Maturities

 

Fiduciary Funds
Money market funds (at cost) 3,878,270$        3,878,270$     --$                   --$                 --$                 
U.S. Government obligations 8,861,453          1,072,180       3,446,512       897,635        3,445,126     
Mortgage backed securities 4,745,269          3,446              12,122            1,065,198     3,664,503     
Fixed income funds 7,985,925          1,861,295       3,159,961       2,011,683     952,986        
Collateralized mortgage obligations 1,865,393          --                     6,605              283,157        1,575,631     
Corporate obligations 15,945,903        578,146          6,609,568       6,414,871     2,343,318     
Municipal obligations 922,611             --                     168,143          358,793        395,675        

Foreign bonds 675,425             --                     232,371          214,997        228,057        

Total Fiduciary Funds 44,880,249$      7,393,337$     13,635,282$   11,246,334$ 12,605,296$ 

 
CREDIT RISK 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer will not fulfill its obligations.  The City’s investment 
policy minimizes credit risk by limiting investments to the safest types of securities and 
diversifying the investment portfolio.  The Police Pension Plan’s investment policy limits 
corporate obligations to only those holding a rating of one of the three highest 
classifications by an NRSRO.  The Fire Pension Plan’s policy limits investments to 
securities with a rating of investment grade or a higher classification by an NRSRO.  The 
General Employee Pension Plan’s investment policy does not limit corporate obligations to 
those with one of the three highest classifications by an NRSRO.  The NRSRO ratings for 
the City’s and the Plan’s investments at September 30, 2017, are summarized below. 
 

Investment Type NRSRO Rating Value
Money market funds (at cost) Aaa-mf 3,878,270$         
Fixed income funds AAA…B 7,006,672           
Fixed income funds AA 979,253              
U.S. Gov't bonds & notes Aaa…AA+ 11,734,685         
U.S. Gov't bonds & notes Aaa 5,388,889           
U.S. Gov't bonds & notes Aaa 3,472,564           
U.S. Gov't agency securities Aaa…AA+ 8,969,501           
U.S. Gov't agency securities Aaa 3,475,694           
U.S. Gov't agency securities Aaa 1,272,575            
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 
 

Investment Type NRSRO Rating Value  
Commercial paper A-1+…P-1 16,297,157$       
Collateralized mortgage obligations Aaa…A1 270,199              
Collateralized mortgage obligations Aaa 1,595,194           
Corporate Obligations Aaa…BBB+ 4,116,969           
Corporate Obligations Aaa…Baa3 6,396,379           
Corporate Obligations Aaa…B1 9,549,524           
Municipal Obligations A1….A+ 301,875              
Municipal Obligations Aaa…A1 922,611              
Foreign bonds Aa2…Baa3 675,425              
Florida Education Investment Trust 
   Fund Term AAAf 15,000,000         
Equity securities Unrated 62,384,429         
Equity funds Unrated 57,178,205         
International funds Unrated 270,052              
International bond funds Unrated 3,495,094           
Real estate funds Unrated 16,590,193          

 
CUSTODIAL CREDIT RISK 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City 
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party.  The investment policy of the City minimizes this risk by 
prohibiting the purchase of securities subject to custodial credit risk.  The City and its 
pension plans require that all securities be held by a third party custodian in the name of the 
City or the respective Plan.  Securities transactions between a broker-dealer and the 
custodian involving the purchase or sale of securities must be made on a “delivery vs. 
payment” basis to ensure that the custodian will have the security or money, as appropriate, 
in hand at the conclusion of the transaction. 
 
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 
Concentration of credit risk is defined as the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an 
investment in a single issuer.  The City’s investment policy limits the concentration of 
credit risk by setting limits on the maximum amount of securities held by type and by single 
issuer. The City’s Police Pension Plan’s investment policies limit investments in the stock  
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED) 
 
of any one issuing company to 5% of the Plan’s assets and to 5% of the outstanding capital 
stock of any issuing company.  The City’s Fire Pension Plan’s investment policy limits 
investments in the stock of any one issuing company to 3% of the Fund’s assets, and to 3% 
of the outstanding capital stock of any issuing company.  Investments issued or explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment 
pools and other pooled investments are excluded from this requirement. 
 
The General Employees’ Pension Plan as well as the Police and Fire Pension Plans did not 
hold investments in any one organization that represents 5% or more of the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position. 
 
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment.  There was no direct exposure to foreign currency risk in the City’s 
and the Plans’ investments at September 30, 2017. 
 
 

NOTE 3 –RECEIVABLES 
 
Receivables and the related allowance for doubtful accounts at September 30, 2017, are 
summarized as follows: 

Gross 
Accounts 

Receivable

Allowance for 
Doubtful 
Accounts

Net Accounts 
Receivable

Governmental Activities
Due from EMS 2,169,901$  (1,896,940)$  272,961$     
Special assessment 1,384,475    --                   1,384,475    
Franchise fees 1,131,330    --                   1,131,330    
Utility taxes 212,395       --                   212,395       
Interest 74,243         --                   74,243         
Extra police services 36,208         --                   36,208         
Other miscellaneous services 30,286         --                   30,286         

Total Governmental Activities 5,038,838$  (1,896,940)$  3,141,898$  
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NOTE 4 – PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Under Florida law, the assessment of all properties and the collection of all county, 
municipal and school board property taxes are consolidated in the offices of the County 
Property Appraiser and County Tax Collector, respectively.  All property is reassessed 
according to its fair market value on January 1 of each year and each assessment roll is 
submitted to the State Department of Revenue for review to determine if the assessment roll 
meets all of the appropriate requirements of State law.  State statutes permit municipalities 
to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills. 
 
The tax levy of the City is established by the Council prior to October 1st of each year 
during the budget process.  The Palm Beach County Property Appraiser incorporates the 
City’s millage into the total tax levy, which includes the County, County School Board, and 
special district tax requirements.  The millage rate assessed by the City for the year ended 
September 30, 2017, was 5.6781 ($5.6781 for each $1,000 of assessed valuation). 
 
Taxes may be paid less a 4% discount in November, or at declining discounts each month 
through the month of February.  All unpaid taxes become delinquent on April 1st following 
the year in which they are assessed. Delinquent taxes on real property bear interest at 18% 
per year.  On or prior to June 1st following the tax year, certificates are offered for sale for 
all delinquent taxes on real property. 
 
After sale, tax certificates bear interest at 18% per year or at any lower rate bid by the 
buyer.  Application for a tax deed on any unredeemed tax certificates may be made by the 
certificate holder after a period of two years.  Unsold certificates are held by the County.  
Delinquent taxes on personal property bear interest at 18% per year until the tax is satisfied 
either by seizure and sale of the property or by the five-year statute of limitations.  At 
September 30, 2017, unpaid delinquent taxes are not material and have not been recorded 
by the City. 
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NOTE 5 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets activity for the year ended September 30, 2017, was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

October 1, Additions/ Retirements/ September 30,

2016 Transfers Transfers 2017

Governmental Activities

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 14,852,345$  357,500$       --$                  15,209,845$    

Construction in progress 9,557,507      10,378,075    (11,841,889)    8,093,693        

Total capital assets not being depreciated 24,409,852    10,735,575    (11,841,889)    23,303,538      

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 38,441,252    1,897,732      --                    40,338,984      

Roadways 66,411,056    2,646,910      --                    69,057,966      

Drainage and structures 17,760,417    --                    --                    17,760,417      

Machinery and equipment 28,784,235    5,404,717      (2,793,447)      31,395,505      

Improvements other than buildings 22,478,054    3,484,291      --                    25,962,345      

Total capital assets being depreciated 173,875,014  13,433,650    (2,793,447)      184,515,217    

Less accumulated depreciation:

Buildings (19,916,709)   (1,442,559)     --                    (21,359,268)     

Roadways (44,159,360)   (1,086,158)     --                    (45,245,518)     

Drainage and structures (4,753,178)     (184,689)        --                    (4,937,867)       

Machinery and equipment (21,928,634)   (2,490,319)     2,785,643       (21,633,310)     

Improvements other than buildings (12,886,379)   (1,209,093)     --                    (14,095,472)     

Total accumulated depreciation (103,644,260) (6,412,818)     2,785,643       (107,271,435)   

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 70,230,754    7,020,832      (7,804)             77,243,782      

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net 94,640,606$  17,756,407$  (11,849,693)$  100,547,320$  
 

 
Governmental Activities

General government 594,739$       
Public safety 2,472,699      
Culture and recreation 1,886,472      
Physical environment 349,984         
Transportation 1,108,924      

Total Depreciation Expense – Governmental Activities 6,412,818$    
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
CAPITAL LEASES PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
Assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 
 

Governmental
Activities

Assets
Machinery and equipment 6,293,777$     
Less accumulated depreciation (1,597,205)     

Total 4,696,572$     
 

 
The future minimum lease obligations and the net present value of these minimum lease 
payments as of September 30, 2017, were as follows: 
 

Year Ending Governmental
September 30, Activities

2018 950,396$        
2019 798,029          
2020 749,385          
2021 774,385          
2022 388,470          

2023-2026 1,217,029       

Total Minimum Lease Payments 4,877,694       
Less amount representing interest (499,535)         

Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments 4,378,159$     
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
BONDS PAYABLE  
 
General Obligation Bonds 
The City’s voters authorized by special referendum on September 3, 1996, the issuance of 
bonds, not to exceed $19.1 million, for payment of the cost of demolition of the old City 
Hall and Police Station; acquisition, construction and furnishing of the new City Hall, new 
Police Station, an addition to the central Fire Station; and improvements to certain 
recreational facilities.  The bonds are general obligations of the City, payable from ad 
valorem taxes to be levied upon all taxable property in the City, in addition to all other 
taxes, without limitation as to rate or amount.  The bonds were issued in series. 
 

Outstanding
Balance

Series 2005 
The City issued $6,901,176 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2005
on May 20, 2005, to retire the General Obligation Bonds that were issued in
1996 and 1997. Interest on the bonds is 3.32% and is payable semiannually on
June 1 and December 1. Principal is payable in annual installments of
$218,298 to $334,319, with the final payment due December 1, 2017. Debt
service payments will be made from the general fund. 663,179$       

Series 2010

The City issued $4,440,997 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2010 on
December 17, 2010, to retire the General Obligation Bonds that were issued in
1998 and 1999. Interest on the bonds is 2.67% and is payable semi-annually
on January 1 and July 1, commencing on July 1, 2011. Principal payments will
be due July 1 each year beginning July 1, 2011 through July 1, 2019. Debt
service payments will be made from the general fund. 1,066,877      

Total General Obligation Bonds 1,730,056$    
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
Public Improvement Bonds 
On November 6, 2003, the City Council approved, through adoption of Resolution 174, 2003, 
the issuance of Public Improvement Bonds in one or more series for the purpose of financing 
the costs of acquiring, constructing and installing capital and non-capital projects and 
refunding prior obligations issued by the City.  The bonds are payable from non-ad valorem 
revenues. 

Outstanding
Balance

Public Improvement Bonds

Series 2011
The City issued $16,190,000 Public Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series
2011 on November 8, 2011, to advance refund the outstanding Public
Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2003. Interest at rates ranging from
.85% to 3.75% is payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1. Principal
is payable in annual installments of $325,000 to $1,880,000, with the final
payment due May 1, 2023. Debt service payments will be made from the
general fund. 6,180,000$    

Series 2013
On June 6, 2013, the City approved, through adoption of Resolution 39, 2013,
the issuance of the Public Improvement Bond, Series 2013, in the amount of
$4,300,000 for the purpose of financing the cost of improvements to the City’s
Golf Course and the construction of a new fire station. Interest at rates ranging
from 1.77% to 1.89% is payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1.
Principal is payable in annual installments of $209,370 to $245,403, with the
final payment due December 1, 2022. Debt service payments will be made
from the general fund. 2,579,532      

Series 2017
On February 9, 2017, the City approved, through adoption of Resolution 14,
2017, the issuance of the Public Improvement Bond, Series 2017, in the
amount of $30,000,000 for the purpose of financing the cost of certain
infrastructure projects within the City relating to the one-cent sales surtax.
Interest at the rate of 2.20% is payable semiannually on April 1 and October 1.
Principal is payable in annual installments of $2,725,000 to $3,300,000, with
the final payment due October 1, 2026. Debt service payments will be made
from the one-cent sales surtax capital improvements fund. 27,275,000    

Total Public Improvement Bonds 36,034,532$  
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NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 
 
Annual debt service payments to maturity for all bonds are as follows: 
 

Year Ending

September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2018 1,189,590$     39,495$     2,124,860$        540,952$      3,314,450$   580,447$    3,894,897$   

2019 540,466          14,430       4,958,187          755,325        5,498,653     769,755      6,268,408     

2020 --                    --               5,076,669          631,254        5,076,669     631,254      5,707,923     

2021 --                    --               3,695,307          500,438        3,695,307     500,438      4,195,745     

2022 --                    --               3,779,106          416,265        3,779,106     416,265      4,195,371     
2023-2026 --                    --               16,400,403        899,818        16,400,403   899,818      17,300,221   

Total 1,730,056$     53,925$     36,034,532$      3,744,052$   37,764,588$ 3,797,977$ 41,562,565$ 

General Obligation Bonds Public Improvement Bonds Total All Bonds

 
 

IN-SUBSTANCE DEFEASANCE – PRIOR YEARS 
 
In 2003, the City defeased a bond issue (Florida Intergovernmental Finance Commission 
Capital Revenue Bonds, 2001 Series B) by creating a separate irrevocable trust fund.  New 
debt was issued and the proceeds of the new debt were used to purchase U.S. government 
securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust fund.  The investments and fixed earnings 
from the investments are sufficient to fully service the defeased debt until the debt is called 
or matures.  For financial reporting purposes, the debt has been considered defeased and 
therefore removed as a liability from the City’s government-wide financial statements.  As 
of September 30, 2017, the amount of defeased debt outstanding, but removed from the 
City’s government-wide financial statements is $5,720,000. 
 
In 2011, the City defeased the Public Improvement and Refunding Bonds, Series 2003 by 
creating a separate irrevocable trust fund.  New debt was issued and the proceeds of the 
new debt were used to purchase U.S. government securities that were placed in an 
irrevocable trust fund.  The investments and fixed earnings from the investments are 
sufficient to fully service the defeased debt until the debt is called or matures.  For financial 
reporting purposes, the debt has been considered defeased and therefore removed as a 
liability from the City’s government-wide financial statements.  As of September 30, 2017, 
the amount of defeased debt outstanding, but removed from the City’s government-wide 
financial statements is $6,105,000. 
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NOTE 7 – INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
The following is a summary of transfers by fund type for the year ended September 30, 
2017: 

Transfer Out
General 

Fund

Non-major 
governmenta

l funds Total
General Fund --$            1,107,000$  1,107,000$  
Non-major governmental funds 694,320    --                 694,320       

Total Funds 694,320$  1,107,000$  1,801,320$  

Transfer In

 
 
Transfers were made to move funds from the general fund to the recreation impact fund and 
road impact fund as part of a mid-year budget authorization for additional funding related to  
capital improvement projects.  A transfer from the general fund to the golf special revenue 
fund to offset the anticipated loss of revenue related to ongoing operations at the same time 
as the construction of the clubhouse expansion project.  A transfer to the general fund from 
the road impact fund was made for scheduled debt service payments. 
 
 

NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS  
 
In October 2006, the City approved, through the adoption of Resolution 84, 2006, the 
participation in the Florida Retirement System (“FRS”) for general employees, including 
elected officials and senior management.  Employees participating in another City 
retirement plan that were hired prior to October 1, 2006, had the right to elect to continue 
participating in the City plan or discontinue participation in the City plan and join the FRS.  
Employees that elected to join the FRS were eligible for past service credit, at the City’s 
expense, for the period of the participation in the City retirement plan, up to 9.75 years.  
Additional past service credit could be purchased at the employee’s expense. Employees 
are vested in FRS after six years of service.  
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
There are two defined benefit plans as part of the Florida Retirement System.  The FRS is a 
cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan with a Deferred Retirement 
Option Program (DROP) for eligible employees.  The Health Insurance Subsidy Program 
(“HIS”) is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.  The FRS and 
HIS were created by the Florida Legislature and are administered by the State of Florida, 
Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement.  FRS provides retirement, 
disability or death benefits for retirees or their designated beneficiaries while HIS assists 
retirees in paying costs related to health insurance.  All retirement legislation must comply 
with Article X, Section 14 of the State Constitution and Part VII, Chapter 112 Florida 
Statutes.  Both of these provisions require that any increase in retirement benefits must be 
funded concurrently on an actuarially sound basis. 
 
Both plans are included as a fiduciary fund in the State of Florida’s Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report.  The report is available via the Florida Department of Financial Services’ 
homepage at www.myfloridacfo.com.  FRS issues a publicly available financial report that 
includes statements of financial condition, investment objectives and policy, an actuarial 
report, historical and statistical information on active members, annuitants, and benefit 
payments, as well as a description of the retirement plans.  The report is available from the 
Florida Department of Management Services’ website (www.dms.myflorida.com). 
 
Benefits Provided 
HIS - The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of the state-administered 
retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs. For the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2017, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received a monthly HIS payment 
equal to the number of years of service credited at retirement multiplied by $5. The 
minimum payment is $30 and the maximum payment is $150 per month, pursuant to 
Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under 
one of the state administered retirement systems must provide proof of eligible health 
insurance coverage, which may include Medicare. 
 
FRS –The general classes of membership are as follows: 

Regular Class – Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other 
classes. 
Elected County Officers Class – Members who hold specified elective offices in local 
government. 
Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) – Members in senior management level 
positions. 
Special Risk Class – Members who are employed as law enforcement officers and meet 
the criteria to qualify for this class. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Benefits Provided (continued) 
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable service 
and employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight years of creditable 
service. All vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal 
retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of service.  All members enrolled 
in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits 
at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service.  The Plan also includes an early 
retirement provision; however, there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires 
before his or her normal retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death 
benefits, and annual cost-of-living adjustments to eligible participants. DROP, subject to 
provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for normal 
retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 
employment with an FRS employer. An employee may participate in DROP for a period 
not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate.  During the period of DROP 
participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. 
The net pension liability does not include amounts for DROP participants, as these 
members are considered retired and are not accruing additional pension benefits. 
 
Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of service, average 
final compensation, and service credit. Credit for each year of service is expressed as a 
percentage of the average final compensation. For members initially enrolled before July 1, 
2011, the average final compensation is the average of the five highest fiscal years’ 
earnings; for members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final 
compensation is the average of the eight highest fiscal years’ earnings. The Plan’s total 
percentage value of the benefit received is determined by calculating the total value of all 
service, which is based on the retirement class to which the member belonged when the 
service credit was earned. Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and 
survivors’ benefits. 
 
Below is the percentage value for each year of service credit earned: 
 
Regular Class members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011 
Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service 1.60% 
Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service 1.63% 
Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service 1.65% 
Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service 1.68% 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Benefits Provided (continued) 

Regular Class members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 
Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service 1.60% 
Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service 1.63% 
Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service 1.65% 
Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service 1.68% 
 
Elected County Officers 3.00% 
 
Senior Management Service Class 2.00% 
 
Special Risk Regular Class 3.00% 
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the 
FRS before July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual 
cost-of-living adjustment is 3 percent per year. If the member is initially enrolled before 
July 1, 2011, and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is an individually 
calculated cost-of-living adjustment. The annual cost-of-living adjustment is a proportion of 
3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit by the total 
service credit at retirement multiplied by 3 percent. Plan members initially enrolled on or 
after July 1, 2011, will not have a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement. 
 
Employees in the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan and Investment Plan are required 
to contribute 3% of their income as part of SB 2100 FRS reform measures that passed in the 
2011 Florida legislative session.  The total amount of employee contributions was 
$499,173.  Contribution percentage amounts are subject to change each year based on 
legislative law changes, investment experience and the actuarial experience of the trust 
fund.  As of September 30, 2017, the City’s required annual contribution is 7.92% of the 
covered salary for general employees, 22.71% for senior management, 45.5% for elected 
officials, and 23.27% for special risk.  The City’s contribution to FRS for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2017 was $1,689,710, equal to 100% of the required contribution for 
the fiscal year.  Included in these rates is 1.66% relating to the HIS plan for all classes of 
employees. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
At September 30, 2017, the City reported liabilities of $14,076,184 for its proportionate 
share of the FRS net pension liability and $5,711,209 for the HIS net pension liability.  The 
net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 
2017. The City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the City’s 
fiscal year 2017 contributions relative to the fiscal year 2016 contributions of all 
participating members. At September 30, 2017, the City’s proportionate share was 0.04759 
percent for the FRS plan and .05341 percent for the HIS plan, which was an increase of 
0.00873 percent and 0.00581 percent respectively, from the proportionate share measured 
as of June 30, 2016. 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, the City recognized pension expense of 
$3,283,609. In addition, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

FRS HIS Total
Differences between expected and actual experience 1,291,855$   --$                 1,291,855$   
Assumption Changes 4,730,592     802,800        5,533,392     
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
   on pension plan investments --                   3,167            3,167            
Changes in proportion and differences between City
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 1,594,359     807,112        2,401,471     
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 326,489        69,445          395,934        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 7,943,295$   1,682,524$   9,625,819$   

FRS HIS Total
Differences between expected and actual experience 77,975$        11,892$        89,867$        
Assumption Changes --                   493,854        493,854        
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
   on pension plan investments 348,843        --                   348,843        
Changes in proportion and differences between City 
   contributions and proportionate share of contributions 96,742          --                   96,742          

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 523,560$      505,746$      1,029,306$   

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows of Resources
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, totaling $395,934, resulting from 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
September 30 FRS HIS Total

2018 1,082,286$          246,407$         1,328,693$        
2019 2,293,192            245,808           2,539,000          
2020 1,650,934            245,520           1,896,454          
2021 490,461               208,031           698,492             
2022 1,140,555            137,291           1,277,846          

Thereafter 435,818               24,276             460,094             

Total 7,093,246$          1,107,333$      8,200,579$        

Employer Share  of Deferred Outflows / (Inflows)

 
 

Actuarial Assumptions 
Actuarial assumptions for both cost-sharing defined benefit plans are reviewed annually by 
the Florida Retirement System Actuarial Assumptions Conference.  The FRS plan has a 
valuation performed annually.  The HIS Program has a valuation performed biennially that 
is updated for GASB reporting in the year a valuation is not performed.  The total pension 
liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: 
 

FRS HIS

Experience Study
Actuarial Cost Method
Investment rate of return 7.10% 3.58%
Projected salary increases 3.25% 3.25%
Inflation 2.60% 2.60%

Mortality Table
 Generational RP-2000 with 
Projection Scale BB Tables 

7/1/08-6/30/13
Individual Entry Age Normal
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 
The long-term expected rate of return on the Plan investments was not based on historical 
returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. The 
allocation policy’s description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to 
the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of 
underlying assumptions, and includes an adjustment for the inflation assumption. The target 
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major 
asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Compound
Annual Annual

Target Arithmetic (Geometric) Standard
Asset Class Allocation Return Return Deviation

Cash 1% 3.0% 3.0% 1.8%
Fixed income 18% 4.5% 4.4% 4.2%
Global equity 53% 7.8% 6.6% 17.0%
Real estate (property) 10% 6.6% 5.9% 12.8%
Private equity 6% 11.5% 7.8% 30.0%
Strategic investments 12% 6.1% 5.6% 9.7%

100%

Assumed inflation-Mean 2.6% 1.9%
 

 
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.10 percent for the FRS 
plan.  The fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for 
calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return.  The 
HIS program uses a pay as you go funding structure, therefore, the depletion date is 
considered to be immediate and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the municipal 
bond rate.  The municipal bond rate of 3.58% was used to determine the total pension 
liability for the program.  The Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond 
Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond index. 
 
Since the prior measurement date, the discount rate for FRS was decreased from 7.60% to 
7.10%.  The HIS discount rate was increased from 2.85% to 3.58%. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
COST-SHARING DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes in 
the Discount Rate  
The following table presents the sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability to changes in the discount rate.  The sensitivity analysis shows the impact 
to the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability if the discount rate was 1.00% 
lower or 1.00% higher than the current discount rate at June 30, 2017. 
 

Current
1% Discount 1%

Pension Plan Decrease Rate Increase
FRS 25,477,043$         14,076,184$         4,610,859$         
HIS 6,517,246             5,711,209             5,039,825           

City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position  
Detailed information about the Plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report. 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS 
 
Plan Descriptions 
The City is the sponsor of three single-employer defined benefit plans:  City of Palm Beach 
Gardens Police Officers’ Pension Fund (the “Police Pension”) covering police officers, City 
of Palm Beach Gardens Retirement Plan for Firefighters (the “Fire Pension”) covering 
Firefighters, and City of Palm Beach Gardens Retirement Plan for General Employees (the 
“General Employees’ Pension”).  The defined benefit plan for general employees was 
closed to new employees hired after May 1, 1995.  All three plans are reported as pension 
trust funds.  The City Council is authorized to establish benefit levels and to approve the 
actuarial assumptions used in the determination of contribution levels. 
 
At the election of the Pension Boards, separate audited financial statements are produced 
for the Police Pension and the Fire Pension.  The General Employees’ Pension does not 
issue separate statements.  The stand-alone statements for the Police Pension and the Fire 
Pension are available on the City’s homepage at www.pbgfl.com. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Plan Descriptions (continued) 
Each pension plan has its own board that acts as plan administrator and trustee.  Each plan’s 
assets may only be used for the payment of benefits to the members and beneficiaries of the 
plan in accordance with the terms of each plan document.  The costs of administering each 
plan are financed in the appropriate pension trust fund. 
 
The General Employees’ Pension Board has three members and is comprised of a plan 
member or retiree or HR administrator if one of these is unable to serve; the City’s finance 
administrator and the City manager or designee. 
 
The Police and Fire Pension Boards are managed by a five-member Board of Trustees 
comprised of two members appointed by City Council, two members that are elected by 
plan membership, and a fifth member who is chosen by the other four members. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
The Plans’ financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.  
Employee contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due.  
Employer and State of Florida contributions are recognized when due and the employer has 
made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plans. 
 
Investments 
Investments are reported at fair value except for money market funds and commercial paper 
which are at amortized cost, and are managed by third party money managers.  The Plans’ 
independent custodians and individual money managers price each instrument using various 
third party pricing sources.  The benefits and refunds of the defined benefit pension plans 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS 
 
General Employees’ Pension 
 
The Plan provides normal retirement, early retirement, deferred retirement, disability 
retirement and death benefits. The benefit provisions are established and may be amended 
under the authority of City Ordinance.  A participant may retire with normal benefits after 
age 62 with 10 years of credited service.  Reduced early retirement benefits are available 
once a participant reaches age 55 and accumulates 10 years of credited service. Normal 
retirement benefits are calculated at 2.5% of the participant's average earnings times the 
participant’s credited service years. A participant becomes 100% vested after 10 years of 
credited service.  Early retirement benefits are the same as normal retirement benefits, 
reduced by 0.55% for each of the first sixty months by which the early retirement age 
precedes age 62 and further reduced by 0.27% for each of the next twenty-four months by 
which the early retirement age precedes age 62.  Average earnings for purposes of 
calculating benefits is the average of the three highest years of pensionable earnings out of 
the last five years of employment. Salary means the average monthly earnings reported to 
the Internal Revenue Service for income tax purposes. 
 
Disability Benefits 
A participant must become totally and permanently disabled prior to his termination of 
employment as determined by the pension board.  The disability benefit is a monthly 10-
year certain and life annuity equal to the participant’s monthly accrued benefit, but offset as 
necessary to preclude the total of the participant’s worker’s compensation, 50% of the 
participant’s social security disability benefit, and any other City-provided disability 
compensation from exceeding his final monthly salary excluding overtime.  For this 
purpose, the amount of any lump sum worker’s compensation payment is converted to an 
equivalent monthly benefit payable for 10 years certain by dividing the lump sum amount 
by 83.9692.  A disabled participant may elect the single life annuity or a joint and 
contingent annuity in lieu of the 10-year certain and life form of payment.  Regardless of 
the form of payment, benefits cease upon the participant’s recovery from the disability prior 
to normal retirement date.   
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
General Employees’ Pension (continued) 
 
Disability Benefits (continued) 
Eligibility for disability benefits begins from the participant's date of hire, if the disability is 
service connected, or after 10 years of service if non-service connected. Service-incurred 
disability benefits are 60% of the participant's average final compensation, and not less than 
2.0% of the participant's average final compensation times his or her credited service years. 
Non-service incurred disability benefits are 2.5% of the participant's average final 
compensation times his or her credited service years up to a maximum of 50% of average 
final compensation. 
 
Death Benefits 
If a vested participant dies prior to retirement, the participant’s beneficiary receives a 10-year 
certain annuity equal to the participant’s monthly accrued benefit, payable beginning at the 
participant’s early or normal retirement age.  If a non-vested participant dies prior to 
retirement, the participant’s beneficiary receives the participant’s accumulated contributions. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits for unvested participants are the return of the participant's contributions. 
For participants who are vested when they terminate, their vested accrued pension benefit is 
payable at the early or normal retirement date. Full vesting occurs at the completion of 10 
years of credited service. 
 
Police Pension 
 
The Plan provides retirement, death and disability benefits for its members. Benefit 
provisions are established and may be amended by the City of Palm Beach Gardens, in 
conjunction with the Palm Beach County Police Benevolent Association. A member hired 
before September 13, 2012 may retire with normal benefits after the earlier of age 52 with 10 
years of credited service, or 20 years of credited service regardless of age. A member hired on 
or after September 13, 2012 may retire with normal benefits upon the attainment of age 59 
and 10 years of credited service. Reduced early retirement benefits are available once a 
member reaches age 50 and accumulates 10 years of credited service. For members retiring 
prior to September 13, 2012, normal retirement benefits are 3.5% of the member's average 
monthly earnings times his or her credited service years, up to a maximum of 100% of 
average monthly earnings, plus a monthly supplemental benefit of $12.50 per year of  
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
Police Pension (continued) 
 
service. For members hired prior to September 13, 2012 and retiring on or after September 13, 
2012, but not having attained the normal retirement date prior to September 13, 2012, normal 
retirement benefits are 3.5% of the member's average monthly earnings times his or her credited 
service years earned prior to September 13, 2012 plus 2.75% of the member's average monthly 
earnings times his or her credited service years earned on or after September 13, 2012, up to a 
maximum of 75% of average monthly earnings, plus a monthly supplemental benefit of $12.50 
per year of service. For members hired on or after September 13, 2012, normal retirement 
benefits are 2.75% of the member's average monthly earnings times his or her credited service 
years, up to a maximum of 75% of average monthly earnings, plus a monthly supplemental 
benefit of $12.50 per year of service. Early retirement benefits are the same as normal 
retirement benefits, reduced by 3.0% for each year by which early retirement precedes the 
normal retirement date. Average monthly earnings for purposes of calculating benefits is the 
average of salary during the last five years of employment producing the highest average. 
Salary means the average monthly earnings reported to the Internal Revenue Service for 
income tax purposes, plus deferred compensation. Beginning with salary after December 31, 
2008, the definition of salary includes amounts paid by the City as differential wages to 
members who are absent from employment while in qualified military service. Notwithstanding 
the preceding two sentences, effective September 13, 2012, salary will henceforth mean base 
pay, excluding all other compensation, provided that the salary of any member employed on 
September 13, 2012 shall include payment for unused accrued sick and annual leave up to the 
dollar amount of unused sick and annual leave that the member has accrued as of September 
13, 2012. However, in no event will the salary of any member who is employed on September 
13, 2012 be less than the member's salary on September 12, 2012 as determined in accordance 
with the definition of salary in effect on September 12, 2012.   

 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan 
Any member who attains 20 years of service or age 52 with 10 years of service may elect to 
participate in a deferred retirement option plan (DROP) while continuing his or her active 
employment as a police officer. The election to enter the DROP must be made prior to 
completing 25 years of credited service. Upon participation in the DROP, the member becomes 
a retiree for all Plan purposes so that he or she ceases to accrue any further benefits under the 
Plan. Normal retirement payments that would have been payable to the member as a result are 
accumulated and invested in the DROP plan to be distributed to the member upon his or her 
termination of employment. Participation in the DROP plan ceases for a member at the first to 
occur of: termination of employment, 30 years of credited service or 5 years of participation. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
Police Pension (continued) 
 
Disability Benefits 
Eligibility for disability benefits begins from the member's date of hire, if the disability is 
service connected, or after 10 years of service if non-service connected. Service-incurred 
disability benefits are 60% of the member's current compensation, and not less than the 
accrued pension benefit. Non-service incurred disability benefits are calculated the same as 
a normal retirement pension based on average monthly earnings and credited service at the 
time of disability, but not less than 25% of average monthly earnings or the accrued pension 
benefit, whichever is greater. 
 
Death Benefits 
Pre-retirement death benefits for service related deaths are paid to the member’s beneficiary 
for life. Benefits are calculated at 50% of the member’s average monthly earnings, with a 
minimum equal to the accrued pension benefit (with no early retirement reduction). Pre-
retirement death benefits for non-service related deaths are paid to the member’s 
beneficiary for life. For members with less than 5 years of contributing service at the date 
of death, the benefit is the return of the member’s contributions without interest. For 
members with 5 years or more of contributing service at the date of death, the benefit is 
equal to that payable at early or normal retirement age. If the member is eligible for normal 
retirement, the benefit is equal to his or her accrued pension benefit, and is payable for life.  
 
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits for unvested members are the return of the member's contributions. 
For members who are vested when they terminate, their vested accrued pension benefit is 
payable at the early or normal retirement date. Full vesting occurs at the completion of 10 
years of credited service. 

 
Fire Pension 
 
The Plan provides normal retirement, early retirement, deferred retirement, disability 
retirement and death benefits. The benefit provisions are established and may be amended 
under the authority of City Ordinance.  A participant may retire with normal benefits after 
the earlier of age 52 with 10 years of credited service, or 25 years of credited service 
regardless of age. Reduced early retirement benefits are available once a participant reaches 
age 50 and accumulates 10 years of credited service. Normal retirement benefits are 3.0%  
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fire Pension (continued) 
 
of the participant's average final compensation times the participant’s credited service years 
up to a maximum of 99% (75% for participants retiring on or after September 13, 2012 who 
were not eligible for normal retirement or who did not have an accrued pension benefit in 
excess of 75% of average final compensation on that date) of average final compensation. 
Early retirement benefits are the same as normal retirement benefits, reduced by 3.0% for 
each year by which the commencement of benefits precedes age 52. Average final 
compensation for purposes of calculating benefits is one twelfth of the average annual 
salary for the best five years of the last ten years of credited service. Salary means the total 
compensation for services rendered to the City as a firefighter reportable on the participant's 
W-2 form plus all tax deferred, tax-sheltered or tax exempt items of income derived from 
elective employee payroll deduction or salary reduction. Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentence, effective September 13, 2012, salary shall exclude all overtime compensation as 
well as payments for unused accrued sick and annual leave; provided the salary of any 
participant employed on September 13, 2012 shall include payment for unused accrued sick 
and annual leave up to the number of hours of unused sick and annual leave accrued on 
September 13, 2012. 
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan 
Any participant who attains 25 years of service or age 52 with 10 years of service may elect 
to participate in the deferred retirement option plan (DROP) while continuing his or her 
active employment as a firefighter. Upon participation in the DROP, the participant 
becomes a retiree for all Plan purposes so that he or she ceases to accrue any further 
benefits under the Plan. Normal retirement payments that would have been payable to the 
participant as a result are accumulated and invested in the DROP plan to be distributed to 
the participant upon his or her termination of employment. Participation in the DROP plan 
ceases for a participant at the first to occur of: termination of employment or 5 years of 
participation.  
 
Disability Benefits 
Eligibility for disability benefits begins from the participant's date of hire, if the disability is 
service connected, or after 10 years of service if non-service connected. Service-incurred 
disability benefits are 60% of the participant's average final compensation, and not less than 
2.0% of the participant's average final compensation times his or her credited service years. 
Non-service incurred disability benefits are 2.5% of the participant's average final 
compensation times his or her credited service years up to a maximum of 50% of average 
final compensation. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fire Pension (continued) 
 
Death Benefits 
The death benefit for a participant who was partially or fully vested, but had not attained at 
least age 50, is a payment of the participant’s accrued pension benefit to the participant's 
beneficiary for 10 years, beginning on the date that the participant would have attained age 
52 for a normal retirement benefit or age 50 for an early retirement benefit, at the option of 
the beneficiary. The death benefit for a participant who was not vested is a return of the 
participant’s contributions to the participant’s beneficiary. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits for unvested participants are the return of the participant's 
contributions. For participants who are vested when they terminate, their vested accrued 
pension benefit is payable at the early or normal retirement date. Full vesting occurs at the 
completion of 10 years of credited service. 
 
Cost of Living Adjustments 
Beginning January 1, 2004, and each January 1 thereafter, all participants receiving 
benefits, excluding disability retirees, shall receive an age based cost of living adjustment. 
The amount will be 1.0% for participants who are age 53, 2.0% for participants who are age 
54, and 3.0% for participants who are age 55 or greater. Effective January 1, 2013, the 
applicable percentage for participants who are age 55 or greater, and who were not 
employed and eligible for normal retirement on September 13, 2012, shall be 1.5%. 

 
The plan membership as of October 1, 2017 for the General Employees’ and October 1, 
2016 for the Police and Fire, the date of the latest actuarial valuation are listed below:  
 

General
Employees' Police Fire

Active Employees 2                 86        91     
Benefits 10               78        45     
Inactive Employees Entitled to but not yet Receiving Benefits 2                 3          4       

Total 14               167      140   
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFIT TERMS (CONTINUED) 
 
Contributions 
The Florida Constitution requires local governments to make the actuarially determined 
contribution.  The Florida Division of Retirement reviews and approves each local 
government’s actuarial report for funding purposes.  Additionally, the State collects two 
locally authorized insurance premium surcharges (one for the Police Pension Plan on 
casualty insurance policies and one for the Fire Pension Plan on certain real and personal 
property insurance policies within the corporate limits) which can only be distributed after 
the State has ascertained that the local government has met their actuarial funding 
requirement for the then most recently completed fiscal year. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the contribution rates for the City and its plan 
members: 
 

General
Employees' Police Fire

Contribution Rates:
City 104.36% 53.37% 40.31%
State N/A 7.74% 6.80%
Plan members 6.00% 8.60% 6.00%

 
 
The Police Officers’ and Firefighters’ Pension Plans are partially funded by contributions 
from the State of Florida under Chapters 185 and 175, respectively, of the Florida Statutes. 
This contribution consists of excise taxes collected by the State on property and casualty 
insurance premiums on policies written within the City and totaled $1,085,186 for the year 
ended September 30, 2017: $460,998 for property insurance contracts for firefighters and 
$624,188 for casualty insurance contracts for police officers. These amounts are recognized 
as insurance premium tax revenues and public safety expenditures in the General Fund. 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY 
 
The City’s net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2016 for the Police 
Pension and Fire Pension and the General Employees’ Pension was measured as of 
September 30, 2017.  The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability 
was determined by an actuarial accounting valuation as of these dates.  
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2015, 
updated to September 30, 2016 for the Police Pension and Fire Pension and the General 
Employees’ Pension used an actuarial valuation as of October 1, 2016 updated to September 
30, 2017.  The following actuarial assumptions, applied to all measurement periods: 
 

General
Employees' Police Fire

Mortality Table

RP-2000 Combined 
Mortality Table with 

full generational 
improvements in 

mortality using Scale 
BB

RP-2000 Table for 
annuitants with 

mortality 
improvement 

projected to all future 
years using Scale BB

RP-2000 
Generational 
Table using 
Scale BB

Investment rate of return 7.00% 6.80% 7.45%
Projected salary increases 5.00% 3.0% - 4.5% 0% - 3.7%
Inflation 0.00% 2.50% 2.50%
Cost of living adjustments 0.00% N/A 1%-2%

 

 
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2016 accounting valuation for the Police 
Pension and Fire Pension were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the 
period of October 1, 2013 – September 30, 2016.  The assumptions used in the September 30, 
2017 accounting valuation for the General Employees’ Pension were based on the results of 
an actuarial experience study for the period of October 1, 2014 – September 30, 2017. 
 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 
The long-term expected rate of return for the General Employees’ Pension, Police Pension 
and the Fire Pension investments were determined using a building-block method in which 
best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These 
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation.  Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 
included in the General Employee’s Pension, Police Pension and Fire Pension plan’s target 
asset allocation as of September 30, 2017 are summarized and included in the following table. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return (continued) 
 

Plan Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected 

Real Rate of 
Return

General Employees Core bonds 16% 0.58%
Multi-sector 24% 1.08%
U.S. large cap equity 39% 6.08%
U.S. small cap equity 11% 6.83%
Non-U.S. equity 10% 6.83%

Fire Domestic equity 50% 7.50%
Foreign equity 10% 8.50%
Broad market fixed income 10% 2.50%
Intermediate fixed income 10% 2.50%
Global fixed income 5% 3.50%
Real estate 10% 4.50%
Alternative 5% 6.00%

Police Domestic equity 55% 7.50%
International equity 10% 8.50%
Domestic bonds 23.5% 2.50%
International bonds 4% 3.50%
Real estate 7.5% 4.50%  

 
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00% for the General 
Employees’ Pension, 6.80% for the Police Pension, and 7.45% for the Fire Pension.  The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member 
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that City contributions will 
be made as legally required.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Discount Rate (continued) 
Since the prior measurement date, the discount rate of the Police Pension discount rate has 
been lowered each year for the past five years and will continue until the rate of 6.50% is 
reached.  The Fire Pension discount rate was decreased from 7.65% to 7.45%. 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
The changes in the net pension liability at the measurement date, were as follows: 
 

General 
Employees' Police Fire

Total Pension Liability

Service Cost 29,083$           1,321,153$      1,637,466$      

Interest 229,409           6,705,476        7,174,074        

Change in Excess State Money --                      --                      --                      

Share Plan Allocation --                      (70,233)            51,623             

Changes of Benefit Terms --                      --                      --                      

Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 92,626             53,192             (1,684,439)       
Changes of Assumptions 122,668           1,038,564        5,890,763        
Benefit Payments Including Refunds of

Employee Contributions (237,655)          (3,946,901)       (1,803,517)       

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 236,131           5,101,251        11,265,970      

Total Pension Liability - Beginning 3,370,170        97,868,222      93,043,038      

Total Pension Liability - Ending (a) 3,606,301$      102,969,473$  104,309,008$  
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability (continued) 
 

General 
Employees' Police Fire  

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions - Employer 253,534$         2,897,754$      3,088,524$      

Contributions - State --                      643,259           568,403           

Contributions - Employee 10,111             452,421           455,983           

Net Investment Income 315,027           8,107,238        6,152,911        

Benefit Payments Including Refunds of

Employee Contributions (237,655)          (3,946,901)       (1,803,517)       

Administrative Expense (11,796)            (132,973)          (91,145)            
Other --                      --                      --                      

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position 329,221           8,020,798        8,371,159        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning 2,285,725        74,092,896      72,959,181      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) 2,614,946$      82,113,694$    81,330,340$    

Net Pension Liability - Ending (a) - (b) 991,355$         20,855,779$    22,978,668$    

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a % of the 

Total Pension Liability 72.51% 79.75% 77.97%

Covered Employee Payroll 174,581$         5,260,709$      7,599,715$      

Net Pension Liability as a % of Covered Employee Payroll 567.85% 396.44% 302.36%

*

 
 
* The amount does not agree to the General Employees’ Pension Trust Fund by $92,024 due to differences 

related to the timing in the fiscal year 2018 employer contributions of $91,099 as well as an adjusting 
journal entry of $925. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
NET PENSION LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following presents the City’s net pension liability calculated using the current discount 
rates and the liability using discount rates that are one percentage point lower and one 
percentage point higher than the current rates: 
 

Current
1% Discount 1%

Pension Plan Decrease Rate Increase
General Employees' 1,359,633$  991,355$     676,157$     
Police 31,407,719  20,855,779  12,109,544  
Fire 36,614,699  22,978,668  11,964,508  

Net Pension Liability

Discount Rate:  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00% 
   for General Employees, 6.80% for Police and 7.45% for the Fire Plan.

 
 
Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the Police Pension and Fire 
Pension fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued financial reports.  The 
General Employees’ fiduciary net position information is shown below: 
 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10,095$       
Investments 2,513,752    
Receivables 337              

Total Assets 2,524,184    

Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,262           

Net Position Restricted for Pension Benefits 2,522,922$  

General Employees Pension Trust Fund
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

September 30, 2017
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 

Additions
Contributions:

Employer 162,435$     
Employees 10,163         

Total Contributions 172,598       

Investment earnings:
Net increase in the fair value of investments 315,026       
Less investment expenses (4,972)         
Net investment gain 310,054       

Total Additions 482,652       

Deductions
Pension benefits 237,655       
Administrative expenses 6,943           

Total Deductions 244,598       

Change in Net Position 238,054       

Net Position, Restricted for Pension Benefits:

Beginning 2,284,868    

Ending 2,522,922$  

Year Ended September 30, 2017

General Employees Pension Trust Fund
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions 
For the year ended September 30, 2017, The City recognized pension expense of 
$7,736,349. Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are as follows: 
 

General 
Employees' Police Fire Total

Differences between expected and actual experience --$               686,190$         --$                   686,190$           

Assumption Changes 250,065       1,627,132        7,101,401        8,978,598          
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
   on pension plan investments 62,013         2,549,948        1,566,309        4,178,270          

Differences between expected and actual experience 63,010         --                     --                     63,010               
Employer and State contributions subsequent to the 
   measurement date --                 3,467,611        3,483,082        6,950,693          

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 375,088$     8,330,881$      12,150,792$    20,856,761$      

General 
Employees' Police Fire Total

Differences between expected and actual experience 126,780$     --$                   2,377,532$      2,504,312$        

Assumption Changes --                 --                     --                     --                        

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
   on pension plan investments 141,024       3,240,018        --                     3,381,042          

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 267,804$     3,240,018$      2,377,532$      5,885,354$        

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred Inflows of Resources
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
CITY SPONSORED – DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions (continued) 
Deferred outflows of resources related to City contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date of $6,950,693 will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
September 30

General 
Employees' Police Fire Total

2018 72,597$    609,887$     1,506,619$  2,189,103$    
2019 11,513      595,215       1,506,619    2,113,347      
2020 (19,492)    765,768       1,881,477    2,627,753      
2021 (14,558)    (389,609)     694,409       290,242         
2022 16,348      41,991         701,054       759,393         

Thereafter 40,877      --                 --                 40,877           

Total 107,285$  1,623,252$  6,290,178$  8,020,715$    
 

 
The following summarizes the pension related amounts for the City as of the indicated 
measurement date: 
 

Deferred Deferred

Measurement Net Pension Outflows Inflows Pension

Date Liability of Resources of Resources Expense/Income

FRS 6/30/2017 14,076,184$    7,943,295$      523,560$         2,696,391$            

HIS 6/30/2017 5,711,209        1,682,524        505,746           587,218                 

General Employees' 9/30/2017 991,355           375,088           267,804           260,223                 

Police 9/30/2016 20,855,779      8,330,881        3,240,018        3,137,407              

Fire 9/30/2016 22,978,668      12,150,792      2,377,532        4,338,719              

Total 64,613,195$    30,482,580$    6,914,660$      11,019,958$          
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 
 
Investment Plan 
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment 
Plan.  The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA’s annual financial statements and in the 
State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.   
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to 
participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. City employees 
participating in DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment Plan. Employer and 
employee contributions, including amounts contributed to individual member’s accounts, 
are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the performance of 
investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, for the Investment 
Plan are established and may be amended by the Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan 
is funded with the same employer and employee contribution rates that are based on salary 
and membership class (Regular Class, Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined 
benefit plan. Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual 
members allocate contributions and account balances among various approved investment 
choices. 
 
Cost of administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, 
are funded through an employer contribution of 6% of payroll and by forfeited benefits of 
plan members.  Allocations to the investment member’s accounts during the 2016-17 fiscal 
year, as established by Section 121.72, Florida Statutes, are based on a percentage of gross 
compensation, by class, as follows:  Regular class 3.30%, Special Risk Administrative 
Support class 4.95%, Special Risk class 11.00%, Senior Management Service class 4.67% 
and County and Local Elected Officers class 8.34%. 
 
For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions 
and are vested after one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings. 
If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under the Pension 
Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of service 
required for Pension Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the 
transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and the earnings on the funds. Nonvested 
employer contributions are placed in a suspense account for up to five years. If the 
employee returns to FRS covered employment within the five-year period, the employee 
will regain control over their account. If the employee does not return within the five-year 
period, the employee will forfeit the accumulated account balance. For the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2017, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the 
SBA; however, management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the 
City. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investment Plan (continued) 
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds 
to another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a 
lump-sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination 
of these options. Disability coverage is provided; the member may either transfer the 
account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when approved for disability retirement to receive 
guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment 
Plan and rely upon that account balance for retirement income. 
 
The City’s Investment Plan pension expense totaled $264,722 for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2017. 
 
Defined Contribution Plan 
The City of Palm Beach Gardens Money Purchase Plan (the “General Plan”) and the City 
of Palm Beach Gardens Executive Plan (the “Executive Plan”) are defined contribution 
pension plans established by the City and administered by ICMA Retirement Corporation to 
provide benefits at retirement to the employees of the City.  The General Plan was closed to 
new employees hired on or after October 1, 2006. 
 
Employees of the City that were hired prior to October 1, 2006, and elected not to join the 
FRS are eligible to participate in the General Plan.  There were seventeen plan members 
during the fiscal year.  The City contributes to the General Plan an amount equal to the FRS 
contribution rate at the time of election (9.85% general employee and 13.12% senior 
management) of the employee’s base salary each month.  Employees also contribute an 
amount equal to 4% of their base salary in the General Plan.  The City’s contributions for 
each employee (and interest allocated to the employees’ accounts) are fully vested after one 
year of continuous service.  Plan revisions and contribution requirements are established 
and may be amended by the City Council. 
 
The City Manager is the only employee eligible to participate in the Executive Plan.  The 
City contributes 15% to the Executive Plan.  As part of the employment agreement with the 
City Manager, the City contributes 3% of the base salary to the Executive Plan, in addition 
to the 15%. 
 
The City’s contributions were calculated using the base salary amount of $937,081 for the 
General Plan and $225,343 for the Executive Plan.  The City made its required 
contributions of $102,244 for the General Plan and $40,562 for the Executive Plan and 
employees made their required contributions of $37,483 to the General Plan. 
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NOTE 8 – PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Service Code Section 457.  This plan, available to all City employees, 
permits them to defer the payment of a portion of their salary until future years.  
Participation in this plan is voluntary and the City makes no contributions to this plan on 
behalf of the employee.  The deferred compensation is not available to employees until 
termination, retirement, death, or unforeseen emergency.  All amounts of compensation 
deferred, including the investments and earnings thereon, vest with the employee and are 
not subject to the claims of the City’s general creditors. 
 
 

NOTE 9 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
The cost of postemployment healthcare benefits generally should be associated with the 
periods in which the cost occurs, rather than in the future year when it will be paid.  The 
City recognizes the cost of postemployment healthcare benefits in the year when the 
employee services are performed, reports the accumulated liability from prior years, and 
provides information useful in assessing potential demands on the City’s future cash flows. 
 
PLAN DESCRIPTION 
 
The City provides certain healthcare benefits to active and retired employees and their 
dependents.  The health plan is a single employer plan administered by the City.  The 
benefits, levels of benefit, employee contributions, and employer contributions are 
governed by the City and can be amended by the City through management re-
commendations to, and approval by, City Council as part of the annual budget adoption 
process.  The plan is not reported as a trust fund nor has an irrevocable trust or equivalent 
arrangement been established to account for the plan.  As a result, the plan does not issue a 
separate financial report.  The activity of the plan is reported in the City’s Self-Insurance 
fund, an internal service fund. 
 
BENEFITS PROVIDED 
 
Retired City employees can continue the same medical coverage they had as active 
employees.  The City provides postemployment health care benefits to its retired employees 
and their dependents.  To be eligible for benefits, an employee must reach retirement 
eligibility in their respective pension plan. 
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NOTE 9 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
BENEFITS PROVIDED (CONTINUED) 
 
All health care benefits are provided through the City’s self-insured health plan.  The 
benefit levels are the same as those afforded to active employees.  Benefits include general 
inpatient and outpatient medical services; mental, and substance abuse care, dental care, 
and prescriptions.  Upon a retired employee reaching 65 years of age, Medicare becomes 
the primary insurer and the City’s plan will not pay benefits already paid by Medicare. 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
As of September 30, 2017, membership consisted of: 
 

Active Employees 464 
Retirees 42   

Total 506 

Membership
September 30, 2017

 
 

FUNDING POLICY 
 
The City establishes the individual premium to be paid by the retired employees.  The State 
of Florida prohibits the City from separately rating retired employees and active employees.  
As a result, the City’s premium charges to retired employees can be no more than the 
premium cost applicable to active employees.  Generally accepted accounting principles, 
however, require that the actuarial information presented below be calculated using age 
adjusted premiums approximating claim costs for retirees separate from the active 
employees.  The use of age adjusted premiums results in the addition of an implicit rate 
subsidy into the actuarial accrued liability.  For the year ended September 30, 2017, retired 
employees contributed $554,798 to the plan.  For those employees, through its Self-
Insurance Fund, the City paid $618,601 in claims and administrative costs resulting in a net 
cost of $63,803.  Active employees do not contribute 100% of the premium cost to the plan 
until retirement. 
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NOTE 9 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
ANNUAL OPEB COST AND ANNUAL OPEB OBLIGATION 
 
The City’s actuarial valuation was performed for the plan as of October 1, 2016 and 
determined the employer’s annual required contribution (ARC) for the year ended 
September 30, 2017.  The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial 
liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.  The following table 
shows the components of the City’s annual OPEB cost for the year, benefit payments made, 
and the changes in the net OPEB obligation. 
 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC) 758,000$     
Interest on net OPEB obligation 134,000       
Adjustment to annual required contribution (181,000)     
Annual OPEB cost 711,000       
Benefit payments made (225,000)     
Increase in net OPEB obligation 486,000       
Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year 3,842,304    

Net OPEB Obligation, End of Year 4,328,304$  

 
 
 

The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, 
and the net OPEB obligation was as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Ended

Beginning Net 
OPEB 

Obligation
Annual OPEB 

Cost
Benefit 

Payments

Percentage of 
Annual OPEB Cost 

Contributed
Net OPEB 
Obligation

9/30/2015  $    2,729,000  $       650,324  $           67,217 10.34%  $ 3,312,107 
9/30/2016        3,312,107           671,636             141,439 21.06%     3,842,304 
9/30/2017        3,842,304           711,000             225,000 31.65%     4,328,304  
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NOTE 9 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
FUNDED STATUS 
 
The funded status of the plan at October 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
was as follows: 

Unfunded

Actuarial Actuarial UAAL as a

Actuarial Accrued Accrued Percentage

Actuarial Value of Liability Liability Funded Covered of Covered

Valuation of Assets  (AAL) – (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
10/1/2016  $               --  $    8,346,000  $     8,346,000 0.00% 33,156,343$    25.17%  

 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts 
and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples 
include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  
Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required 
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are 
compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  The 
schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following 
the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information that shows 
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to 
the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 
 
The City has not established an irrevocable trust fund or equivalent arrangement to 
accumulate assets to cover the unfunded actuarial accrued liability, but instead has elected 
to account for the OPEB liability on a pay as you go basis. 
 
ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan 
(the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of 
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of 
benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The projections do not 
explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual funding limitations.  The 
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce 
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, 
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 
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NOTE 9 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
In the October 1, 2016 actuarial valuation, the entry age normal method was used.  The 
actuarial assumptions included a 3.5% investment discount rate, inflation rate of 2.2%, an 
annual healthcare cost trend rate of 5.50% decreasing until it reaches 4.00%, and payroll 
growth of 3.5%.  Life expectancies were based upon data found in the RP-2000 healthy and 
disability tables.  The actuarial value of assets was not determined as the City has not 
advance funded its obligation.  The plan’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being 
amortized as a level percentage of projected payroll on a closed basis.  The remaining 
amortization period at September 30, 2017 was twenty-two years. 
 
 

NOTE 10 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustments 
by grantor agencies, principally the federal government.  Any disallowed claims, including 
amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds.  The amount, 
if any, of expenditures that may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this 
time, although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
The City is a defendant in various claims and legal actions occurring in the course of 
operations.  While the ultimate outcome of the litigation cannot be determined at this time, 
management believes that any amounts not covered by insurance, if any, resulting from 
these lawsuits would not materially affect the financial position of the City. 
 
 

NOTE 11 – COMMITMENTS 
 
Commitments on major construction contracts consist of the following: 
 

Total Expended at Balance
Project September 30, to

Project Authorization 2017 Complete
Shady Lakes/117th Court Connector Road 2,500,000$         1,979,182$      520,818$      
117th Court North Expansion 2,200,000           1,395,089        804,911        
Golf Course Club House Expansion 6,458,382           4,149,772        2,308,610     
Joseph Russo Athletic Complex 2,972,898           2,762,385        210,513        

Total Major Construction Contract Commitments 14,131,280$       10,286,428$    3,844,852$   
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NOTE 11 – COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
SOLID WASTE, RECYCLING, AND VEGETATIVE WASTE COLLECTION SERVICES 
 
On February 17, 2006, the City entered into an agreement with Waste Management, Inc. of 
Florida granting an exclusive solid waste, recycling and vegetative waste collection services 
franchise.  The City renewed a five-year option for the agreement on April 5, 2012 which 
will terminate on March 30, 2018.  The cost of the contract totaled $2,632,753 for the year 
ended September 30, 2017. 
 
On January 4th, 2018, the City entered into an agreement to retain the services of Waste 
Management, Inc. of Florida for a period of ten years commencing April 1, 2018 through 
March 31, 2028, with no options to renew.   
 
ENCUMBRANCES 
 
Encumbrance accounting, in which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for 
the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable 
appropriation, is utilized by the City during the year.  Because appropriations expire at year 
end, even if encumbered, it is the City’s policy to re-appropriate such amounts at the 
beginning of the next fiscal year.  Encumbrances outstanding at year end are reported as 
part of restricted and assigned fund balances. Below is a listing of outstanding 
encumbrances by fund at September 30, 2017: 
 

Fund
Encumbrances 

Outstanding
General fund 5,457,922$     
One-cent sales surtax capital improvements fund 787,402          
Non-major governmental funds 3,159,483       

Total 9,404,807$     
 

 
 
NOTE 12 – JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATION 

 
The City, through an interlocal agreement with certain other municipalities and Palm Beach 
County, created the Seacoast Utility Authority (“Seacoast”) which provides water and 
sewer service to the citizens of each of the participating municipalities and a portion of 
Palm Beach County.  Seacoast’s governing board is comprised of one member from each 
participating entity.  Seacoast is an independent authority organized under the laws of the 
State of Florida and the City has no participating equity ownership in Seacoast.  The City 
paid $239,867 to Seacoast during the fiscal year for water and sewer service and connection 
fees relating to capital projects. 
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NOTE 13 – RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH INSURANCE 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and 
destruction of assets; errors and omission; and natural disasters for which the City carries 
commercial insurance.  Specifically, the City purchases commercial insurance for property, 
liability, and workers’ compensation.  The City is also covered by Florida Statutes under 
the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity which effectively limits the amount of liability of 
municipalities to individual claims of $200,000/$300,000 for all claims relating to the same 
accident.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior 
year.  In addition, there have been no settlements in excess of insurance coverage for the 
past three fiscal years. 
 
SELF-INSURANCE FUND 
 
During fiscal year 2009, the City established the Self-Insurance Fund (internal service fund) 
to account for medical insurance claims of City employees and their covered dependents.  
Under this program, the fund provides the employee with an unlimited lifetime maximum 
benefit.  A maximum deductible of $200,000 for specific claims has been set.  Commercial 
insurance for specific loss claims in excess of the coverage provided by the fund is supplied 
by Symetra Life Insurance Company.  The City has contracted with Blue Cross/Blue Shield 
to perform certain administrative functions, such as monitoring, reviewing and paying 
claims.  Settled claims have not exceeded the excess insurance limits during the fiscal year. 
 
All City departments participate in the program and make payments to the Self-Insurance 
Fund based upon actuarial estimates of the amounts needed to pay prior and current year 
claims, claims reserves, and administrative costs. 
 
Liabilities of the fund are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the 
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  Liabilities include an amount for claims 
that have been incurred but not reported (IBNRs).  The result of the process to estimate the 
claims liability is not an exact amount as it depends on many complex factors, such as 
inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and damage awards.  Accordingly, claims are re-
evaluated periodically to consider the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends 
(including frequency and amount of pay-outs), and other economic and social factors. 
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NOTE 13 – RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH INSURANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
SELF-INSURANCE FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
The estimate of the claims liability also includes amounts for incremental claim adjustment 
expenses related to specific claims and other claim adjustment expenses regardless of 
whether the expenses are allocated to specific claims.  Changes in claims liabilities were as 
follows: 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended

Claims 
Payable 

Beginning 
of Year 

Claims and 
Changes in 
Estimates

Claim 
Payments

Claims 
Payable End 

of Year
9/30/2016  $262,592  $ 5,371,336  $ (5,356,760)  $     277,168 
9/30/2017    277,168     6,370,305     (6,254,599)         392,874 

 
 
 

NOTE 14 – INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE 
 
The City entered into an interlocal agreement with two other municipalities in Palm Beach 
County to purchase and operate a county-wide public safety communications system.  The 
interlocal agreement established the Municipal Public Safety Communications Consortium 
of Palm Beach County (“MPSCC”) whose purpose is to provide its members with 
expanded radio communication services (via the 800MHz trunked radio system) to aid in 
public safety over a larger geographical region. The MPSCC is a cost sharing organization.  
Its annual budget is prepared by the Executive Director and approved by the Board of 
Directors of MPSCC.  The member municipalities of the MPSCC are obligated for the debt 
incurred by the consortium and each municipality is responsible for their respective portion 
of costs incurred by the MPSCC.  The City’s initial investment in this joint venture was 
$676,200, which represented 13.8% of the total consortium investment.  During the current 
fiscal year, the City had expenditures of $145,954 relating to the consortium.  The City’s 
investment in the joint venture is $1,719,363 as of September 30, 2017.  Separate financial 
statements for the MPSCC may be obtained from, Palm Beach Gardens Police, Attention:  
Ernie Carr, 10500 Military Trail, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410. 
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NOTE 15 – INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
 
On September 30, 2010, the City adopted Resolution 74, 2010, entering into an agreement 
with three other municipalities (the Town of Jupiter, Town of Juno Beach, and Jupiter Inlet 
Colony) to provide consolidated police dispatch operations in Palm Beach County.  On 
September 17, 2014, the Village of North Palm Beach entered the interlocal agreement.  
The Northern Municipal Regional Communications Center’s (NMRCC) budget for the 
fiscal year was $3,441,473 which was offset by $72,594 in Palm Beach County 911 
reimbursements.  In addition, each participating municipality was responsible for its pro-
rata share of administrative service fees totaling $541,167. 
 
The allocation of expenditures to the four municipalities is based on population with the 
City’s share at 40.3%, the Town of Jupiter at 47.1%, the Village of North Palm Beach at 
9.7%, the Town of Juno Beach at 2.6% and the Jupiter Inlet Colony at .3%.  The City 
received payments from the Town of Jupiter, Town of Juno Beach, Village of North Palm 
Beach and Jupiter Inlet Colony for dispatch services totaling $2,345,080, which included an 
administrative services fee of $323,264.  The City was responsible for $1,564,962.  Actual 
expenditures were less than the dispatch operations budget during the fiscal year by 
$116,563.  The accumulated portion of payments from municipalities that exceed actual 
expenditures is shown as restricted to law enforcement on the governmental funds balance 
sheet. 
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NOTE 1 – BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 
State of Florida statutes require that all municipal governments establish budgetary systems 
and approve annual operating budgets.  The Council annually adopts an operating budget 
and appropriates funds for the general fund, special revenue funds (except the extra duty 
police fund), capital projects funds and the proprietary fund.  The procedures for 
establishing budgetary data are as follows: 
 
Prior to the first Council meeting in August of each year, the City Manager submits a 
proposed operating budget to the Council for the next fiscal year commencing the following 
October 1.  The proposed budget includes expenditures and the means of financing them. 
 
The Council holds public meetings to obtain taxpayer comments. 
 
Upon completion of the public hearings, a final operating budget is legally enacted through 
the passage of an ordinance before September 30th.  Estimated fund balances are considered 
in the budgetary process. 
 
A City ordinance establishes the legal level of budgetary control at the fund level.  Any 
increase in the total amount appropriated for all funds must be approved by ordinance of the 
Council.  Any transfer between funds must be approved by the City Manager and by 
ordinance of the City Council.  Transfers from the Council contingency account must be 
approved by the City Council.  Any other budget transfer within the same fund must be 
approved by the City Manager. 
 
The adopted budgets are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  The Council also adopts non-appropriated operating budgets for the proprietary 
funds substantially on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles, 
except that depreciation is not budgeted and capital outlay purchases are presented as 
expenditures.  The reported budgetary data represents the final appropriated budgets after 
amendments adopted by the Council. 
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NOTE 2 – BUDGET AND ACTUAL COMPARISONS 
 
The Budgetary Comparison Schedule for the General Fund is required to be prepared under 
the basis of accounting used in preparing the budget.  As indicated in Note 1, the modified 
accrual basis of accounting is used for budgetary purposes.  On-behalf payments from the 
State of Florida for Police and Fire-Rescue pensions are not included in the budget.  As a 
result, General Fund revenue and expenditures reported in the budget and actual statement 
differ from the corresponding amounts reported on the basis of U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.  These differences can be reconciled as follows: 
 

Revenue Expenditures

Budgetary basis 85,266,328$  80,761,985$   
State on-behalf payments for Police and Fire-Rescue 
   pension contributions not included in budgetary basis 1,085,186      1,085,186       

GAAP Basis 86,351,514$  81,847,171$   
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OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes, other than debt 
service or capital projects.  The nonmajor special revenue funds of the City are as follows: 
 
Police Training Fund – This fund is established to account for fees collected from traffic 
citations to be used for the training and education of the City’s police. 
 
Recreation Programs Fund – This fund is used to account for revenues and costs related to 
special programs such as special events and athletic programs. 
 
Golf Course Fund – This fund is used to account for revenues and costs related to the operations 
of the City’s Golf Course. 
 
Extra Duty Police Fund – This fund is used to account for revenues to be used to fund extra 
police duty. 
 
Local Option Gas Tax Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt of local option 
gas taxes.  The use of these funds is restricted for transportation related capital improvements or 
maintenance costs. 

 
 

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
 
Capital Projects Funds are established to account for financial resources to be used for the 
acquisition and construction of major capital facilities, other than those financed by proprietary 
funds.  The nonmajor capital projects funds of the City are as follows: 
 
 
Recreation Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt and 
disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of enhancing the 
recreational facilities within the City. 
 
 
Police Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt and 
disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of enhancing the level of 
law enforcement services in the City. 
 
Fire Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt and 
disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of enhancing the level of 
fire/rescue services in the City. 
 
Art Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt and 
disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of providing art and 
cultural activities. 



 

 

Road Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt and 
disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of improving roads within 
the City. 
 
Capital Improvement & Replacement Fund – This fund is established to account for the receipt 
and disbursement of debt proceeds and special assessments related to infrastructure and capital 
improvement and replacement projects. 
 
Public Facilities Impact Capital Projects Fund – This fund is established to account for the 
receipt and disbursement of developer paid impact fees restricted for the purpose of improving 
public facilities within the City. 
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